
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, 
                                        Catherine Street,Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 
Date: Monday, 16th September, 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 19 August 2019 1 - 8

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6. Forward Plan 9 - 14

7. Brexit Preparation 15 - 18

8. 2019-2024 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 19 - 48

9. 2019/20 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 1 49 - 64

10. Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2023 65 - 94

11. Christmas Parking Arrangements 95 - 98

12. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Monday 7 October 2019 
at 10:00am in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, 
Catherine Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during the 
consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a query on the meeting 
arrangements or if you require a copy of this document in a different format (large print, 
braille, audio tape, electronic formats such as CD or in a different language) please contact 
the relevant officer as shown below. 

Public Document Pack



Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance with Council’s 
Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being published. It is expected 
that the decision notice will be published on 19 September 2019. Subject to this 
publication, the deadline for calling in any decision is 5.00pm on 26 September 2019. 

Emergency procedures
In the event of a fire alarm being sounded please follow the instructions of the Chair; leave 
the building via the nearest emergency exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the Copeland Centre car park.

Reporting 
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done in accordance 
with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all mobile devices must be 
switched to silent.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Monday, 19 August 2019

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 30 August 2019.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been circulated to all 
Members of the Council.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the Officer named in 
the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue, please contact the Officer named in the right hand 
column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any documentation please contact 
Democratic Services.

Present: Mike Starkie (Mayor); Councillors David Moore (Deputy Mayor), Michael McVeigh, 
Gwynneth Everett  and Steven Morgan.

Apologies for Absence: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities.

Officers Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services 
and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer); Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources; 
Mike Graham, Political Advisor; Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Janice Carrol, Community Services 
Manager; Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer; Christina Cremins, Communications 
Officer; James Young, Scrutiny Officer. 

Also Present: Councillor Andy Pratt.

Statements of Decisions – The Statements of Decisions made on the 22nd July 2019 were signed by 
the Mayor as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

To receive any declarations of interests in agenda items.

Decision

No declarations of Interest were made by those present.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members of the 
public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5 REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

To receive any recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Decision

Not applicable as no recommendations had been received from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. FORWARD PLAN

To consider the Executive’s Forward Plan.
Executive were informed that the Local Plan Preferred Options report was  
delayed and would not be on the 9 September 2019 Council agenda and the 
Nuclear Position Statements will be on the Executive agenda for 
16 September 2019 but will not go to Council.  

Decision

RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan of Key decisions and Work Plan be 
noted.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to information 
(England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan to be prepared in 
respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 3



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 

To consider a report proposing the adoption of new contract standing 
orders to replace the previous 2012 version.

Decision

RESOLVED – that the revised Contract Standing Orders be recommended to 
Council for adoption, as part of the Council’s constitution and in accordance 
with section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Reason for Decision

The Council is required, by law, to have standing orders in place regulating 
procurements relating to supplies of goods and materials and works. The 
Council last adopted such standing orders in 2012 where they were termed 
‘contract procedure rules’. Those rules now need to be updated for reasons 
of legislation, lessons learnt, business efficacy and commercial strategy.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy 
(Monitoring 
Officer)

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 

To consider the 2019 - 2023 Commercial Strategy.

Decision

RESOLVED – that the Commercial Strategy 2019-23 as a means of enabling 
the Council to deliver its strategic outcomes, be agreed and recommended 
to full Council for approval.

Reason for Decision

This is a key document to drive and shape the future of the Council.  The 
Executive is requested to formally endorse the approach and sign off the 
draft Commercial Strategy 2019-23 document ready for adoption. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy 
(Monitoring 
Officer)

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. WASTE UPDATE 

To receive an update on the services provided to residents including 
recycling and green waste which will be impacted by the policy changes 
being considered by Government.   

Decision

RESOLVED – that 

1.  The outcomes of the recent national waste strategy consultations and
      the  potential  impact for the Council, 
2.  The Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership decision to appoint a 
      partnership development officer for Cumbria, and
3.  The Recycling and waste minimisation performance for 2018/19 be 
      noted.

Reason for Decision

Following the release of the Governments Resources and Waste Strategy in 
December 2018 and the subsequent major consultations released in 
February 2019, that covered:-
• Consistent collections including food waste and free garden waste.
• Enhanced producer responsibilities for packaging and the proposal
             that packaging manufacturers will cover the full cost of recovering 
             waste. 
• Deposit return schemes for the UK.
• Taxing plastic packaging with less than 30% recycled content.

The Government have now released their review of the consultation 
responses and have given indicative timescales for some of the changes 
they intend to progress.   Some of the proposed changes will have a major 
impact on the Council’s collection services. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie Betteridge,
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
10. 2019/20 REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT – QUARTER 1

This 2019/20 Revenue & Capital Budget monitoring report – Quarter 1 
contains information on the Forecast Outturn position on spending against 
the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2019/20. 

The Net Revenue Budget agreed by Council on 5th February 2019 for 
2019/20 was £8,798k; this includes a transfer from the General Fund of 
£227k. The table contained within the agenda report summarises the 
forecast outturn position for Q1 against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 
2019/20.

Council approved a Revised Capital Programme for 2019/20 of £8,961k at 
its meeting on 20th June 2019. Expenditure for Q1 is set out in the table 
shown in the agenda report.

The capital programme will be reviewed in Q2 when more up-to-date 
information is available to provide a more accurate forecast of the year end 
positon.

Decision

RESOLVED – That 
a) the 2019/20 revenue forecast outturn net overspend of £333k be 

noted, 
b) the summary of the revenue outturn variances be noted, and 
c) the forecast capital outturn for 2019/20 be noted.

Reason for Decision

These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs to enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Steven Brown
Director of 
Financial 
Resources

Page 6



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Decision

RESOLVED – that the press and public be excluded for the remaining item of 
business in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of part 1 of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended)

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
11. DATA GOVERNANCE

Executive was provided with a verbal update on a data governance issue 
and the steps taken as a result.

Decision

RESOLVED: that the update be received and noted.

Reason for Decision

Council has a responsibility under the General Data Protection Regulations 
legislation.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial 
Strategy 
(Monitoring 
Officer)

Page 7



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
12. PFI UPDATE

Executive were provided with a verbal update on the PFI position and the 
progress being made.

Decision

RESOLVED: that the update be received and noted.

Reason for Decision

Executive are receiving regular updates on the PFI position.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

Pat Graham, 
Chief Executive

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 

13.

IN PUBLIC

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be held on 
Monday 16 September 2019 at 10:00am in the Bainbridge Room.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 10:55 am 

Mayor

Page 8



 
 

EXEC 16 September 2019
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett and Steven Morgan.
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 

  

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Homelessness 
Strategy

Executive  OSC
22 August 2019 
Executive 
16 September 2019
                

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 1 

Executive  Executive 
16 September 2019 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Strategic Asset 
Management Plan 
2019-2023

Executive Executive 
16 September 2019 

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Xmas Parking 
Arrangements

Executive Executive 
16 September 2019 

Commercial Services
Cllr Steven Morgan

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Corporate Strategy Executive  Executive 
7 October 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Nuclear Position 
Statements

Council Executive 
7 October 2019 

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

P
age 10



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Finance Update Executive Executive 
7 October 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Budget Consultation Executive Executive 
7 October 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Burial Capacity Executive Executive 
7 October 2019

Commercial Services
Cllr Steven Morgan

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes Yes

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure

Council Executive 
7 October 2019 
Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Copeland’s Climate 
Policy Statement

Council Executive 
7 October 2019 
Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

High Street Fund 
update

Executive OSC
3 October 2019
Executive 
4 November 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Millom Hub Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Inclusive Communities
Gwynneth Everett

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

P
age 11



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

Constitution changes Council Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Local Plan Preferred 
Options

Council Council 
2 December 2019

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Environment/Energy 
Policy Update

Executive  Executive 
9 December 2019 
            

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

High Street Fund Executive Executive 
9 December 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities 

Yes No

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly 
Report  

Executive  Executive 
9 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive

No No

P
age 12



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy

Executive  Executive 
13 January 2020 

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities 

Yes No

Discount and 
Premium Policy

Council Executive 
13 January 2020
Council 
10 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Budget Consultation 
Outcome

Executive Executive 
13 January 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Draft Budget Council Executive 
13 January 2020
Council 
10 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Pay Policy Statement Council Council 
10 February 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 
10 February 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

P
age 13



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 
10 February 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive 
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive 
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

 

P
age 14



Executive 160919

BREXIT PREPARATION 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive 

Communities
REPORT AUTHOR Peta Leigh, Policy Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

To update the Executive on the Council’s preparations for Brexit.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The UK may be leaving the European Union on 31st October and, to date, 
the government has not reached agreement on a deal.   In order to prepare 
for the exit from the EU, Copeland Borough Council has formed a Brexit 
Preparation working group which is monitoring the position regarding the 
implications for Copeland and our links to Cumbria as a whole.  
Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities, has been 
designated as Brexit Lead Officer, supported by Andrew Clarke, Principal 
Communications and Engagement Officer, and Peta Leigh, Policy officer.  

2.             UPDATE

2.1        The Local Authority Information Network, a network of 9 local 
authority chief executives from across England, has been established to share 
information on preparations and keep councils informed on national policy 
that could have implications for local services, businesses and residents.  
Copeland Borough Council belongs to the North West Region led by Liverpool 
City Council.  

2.2        Regular updates are received from The Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the Local Government 
Association (LGA), Local Government Information Unit (LGiU), Rural Services 
Network (RSN) and other organisations.  This information is collated and 
circulated by the Policy Officer to the Brexit Preparation Group and to other 
officers and elected members via the monthly policy and briefings updates.  

2.3       Through contact with colleagues in Cumbria County Council and the other 
             district councils in the county, Cumbria Local Enterprise Council, Chambers of 
            Commerce, BEC cluster group, Sellafield Ltd, Local Resilience Forum 
            and other organisations and businesses, Copeland Borough Council 
           officers and elected members are kept informed of the potential issues 
           and impact of Brexit in this area.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



2.4        We have considered local issues and in early 2019 this was focused on our 
Social Inclusion policy and the possible impact on those in poverty and 
specifically those experiencing food poverty from what was known about 
Brexit at this point.  Analysis from national research bodies including the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation assisted our understanding and how we might 
work with partners to help our more vulnerable residents and communities.  
CLT are keeping a watching brief on food Brexit implications particularly 
relating to no-deal Brexit.

2.5 As highlighted we have an internal officer group to understand our position.   
This is supported by regular operational monitoring by managers, policy and
legal monitoring and overview by officers.  This group liaises closely with CLT 
and the Council’s Leadership and Management Group.  In the last quarter we 
have re-assessed operational issues in light of Brexit updates to identify 
operational risks.  We have identified three major internal concerns.  One 
remains the food Brexit issues for our vulnerable residents, another is 
supplies to the Council for operational delivery which are being managed 
currently and the final is relating to some key contracts.  
All of these are being actively managed.  For example, we have been given 
reassurances that the majority of (fleet) parts suppliers have increased their 
stock levels by 15% to reduce the risk of non-availability and we have fuel 
supplies for a minimum of 6 weeks and are actively managing our stock 
control. 
We are regularly reviewing the potential impacts of Brexit on service delivery 
and if circumstances require we will activate business continuity plans to 
maintain critical service delivery.

2.6 Strategic economic risks in Copeland are being regularly monitored and the 
analysis updated by the Cumbrian Local Enterprise Partnership and individual 
businesses and sectors.  

2.7 We are aware that the Government will be commencing a major public 
information campaign on Brexit in the near future.  To this end, MHCLG will 
be issuing regular, focussed and streamlined briefings to local authorities for 
dissemination.  MHCLG have stated an expectation that Councils will escalate 
any local issues through their Local Resilience Forum.  This operates at a 
Cumbria level with Copeland Council representation.  There is a 
comprehensive Q&A on Brexit on Gov.UK.

3. CONCLUSION

3.1  A major concern for Copeland Borough Council at present is the 
vulnerability of some of our residents who will be most affected by food 
Brexit potentially impacting food banks and resulting in rises in the price of 
food and other essentials.

Page 16



3.2 The uncertainty of what effect a ‘no-deal’ exit will have means that a pro-
active stance in preparation is made difficult. 

3.3 Our assessment is that there is not a strategic risk to the Council at present 
and operational risks are known and being managed but the position is 
being closely monitored in case it may become one and need to be 
escalated to our strategic risk register.

3.4 We continue to liaise closely within Cumbria County Council particularly in 
relation to the Government Brexit preparations around communications to 
residents.

  
4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS

4.1 Legal comment: No legal issues arise from the report itself. Any legal issues 
arising from the consequences of Brexit will be dealt with if and when they 
arise. A raft of legislative amendments have been made by Parliament to 
change existing legislation to remove/change references to the EU across a 
range of functions. All that legislation is conditional on an actual exit from 
the EU and, insofar as it affects the Council, will be dealt on exit day.

4.2 Equalities comment:   We have not received any equalities impact nationally 
but have under our social inclusion policy work undertaken an assessment 
about local impact within our communities.  Further work will be needed 
once more clarity is provided to understand if there is specific work for 
Copeland to do under our Equalities Scheme.

Appendices:         

List of Background Documents: 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Copeland Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2024

REPORT FROM: Strategic Housing Team
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities
REPORT AUTHOR: Amanda Starr, Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE COMMITTEE?
This report contains the final draft of the refreshed Copeland Homelessness Strategy 2019-
2024 and has come to the Executive following consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder 
and with input from the Councillor Homelessness Champion.  The report was presented to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) on 22nd August 2019 and amends have been made 
following feedback at that meeting.

There has been extensive consultation both internally with Officers in the Homeless Service 
and externally, with our values Third Sector Partners and other statutory bodies.  Joint 
working with our partners is critical to the delivery of the strategy, as without them, our ability 
to respond effectively to the rising pressures of homelessness would be greatly impacted.  
Officers are now presenting a final draft of the refreshed Copeland Homelessness Strategy for 
consideration by the Executive.  The Strategy will be supported by a detailed delivery action 
plan, currently in development.  Once adopted the Copeland Housing Partnership and OSC 
will oversee the delivery of the strategy and action plan.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee are recommended to:

(a) Note and comment on the emerging refresh of the Copeland Homelessness Strategy
(b) Give delegated authority for the Executive Director and Strategic Housing & Social 

Inclusion Manager to finalise the document and update Full Council via the Portfolio 
Holders Report 

(a) The Copeland Homelessness Strategy is a public document setting out The Councils 
strategic plan to prevent and relieve homelessness.  The Council is required to 
demonstrate to Government how it is working with communities to plan and build 
better places to live for everyone.  This strategy contributes by ensuring the Council 
delivers its strategic function and in addition provides an effective non-statutory wrap 
service over.  This is over and above our statutory duty and ensures housing related 
support is accessible for our most vulnerable people.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



(b) Once comments have been received from the Executive Committee, Officers will make 
final changes and update full council within the Housing Portfolio Holders Report

Appendices:
Appendix A: Final Draft Copeland Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024 

Page 20



1

Copeland Borough Council
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2019 – 2024

Page 21



2
Page 22



3

Foreword
By Cllr McVeigh.

Including Quotes from Cllr Pollen Homelessness Champion

Page 23



4

Contents

Foreword ................................................................................................................................................3

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................5

National Context.....................................................................................................................................5

Overview of homelessness in Copeland .................................................................................................6

Achievements .........................................................................................................................................6

Opportunities and Challenges ................................................................................................................8

Priority 1: Reduce Levels of hidden homeless and potential rough sleepers.......................................10

Priority 2: Prioritise the Prevention of Homelessness ..........................................................................12

Priority 3: Ensure sufficient & appropriate accommodation and support is available.........................14

Appendix...............................................................................................................................................17

Page 24

https://copelandbc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/jfriend_copeland_gov_uk/Documents/Housing/Homeless/Homeless%20Strategy%202018/Drafts/JB%20Draft%20simplify.docx#_Toc18312853
https://copelandbc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/jfriend_copeland_gov_uk/Documents/Housing/Homeless/Homeless%20Strategy%202018/Drafts/JB%20Draft%20simplify.docx#_Toc18312854
https://copelandbc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/jfriend_copeland_gov_uk/Documents/Housing/Homeless/Homeless%20Strategy%202018/Drafts/JB%20Draft%20simplify.docx#_Toc18312855


5

Executive Summary

Homelessness, specifically rough sleeping, is rising nationally and as a borough, we have increasing 
numbers of people contacting us who are at risk of homelessness or are already ‘hidden homeless’, ie 
staying with family and friends, roofless and at risk of having to sleep rough.  We are seeing more 
people who have complex needs relating to drug or alcohol addiction or mental health issues, and 
rising numbers with more than one support need.  Copeland has always been proud of its 
compassionate preventative approach to homelessness going over and above our statutory minimum 
requirements and our new strategy continues our culture of person centred services.

This strategy sits beneath the Housing Strategy, which was launched in August 2019 to reflect the 
Vision and Mission of Copeland Borough Council and our Strategic Aims – Making Copeland a better 
place to live, work and visit. The Housing strategy has 3 themes: Housing for Investment; Housing for 
People and Housing for Place. 

This Homelessness Strategy sits under the Housing for People theme with the vision:

Helping people before they reach crisis point by working with partners to provide support, 

ultimately enabling our residents to live healthy, happy lives.

The strategy also underpins the Council’s Social Inclusion Policy and Delivery plan and is the means 
by which the Homelessness theme of the Social Inclusion Policy is delivered.

By preventing homelessness as much as possible, we make direct savings on the cost of temporary 
accommodation and help reduce pressure of the wider services in the Borough, such as Health and 
Social Services.  The Strategy reflects the themes within and supports the delivery of the Cumbria Joint 
Public Health Strategy and specifically supports the topics of Human Capital and Social Capital.

In this strategy, we identify three aims to address homelessness and fulfil our legal obligations: 

 Reduce the levels of hidden homeless and potential rough sleepers
 Prioritise the prevention of homelessness 
 Ensure sufficient and appropriate accommodation and support is available 

Page 25



6

 Partnership 

Partnership working remains at the core of our strategic approach and our joint work with 
the Third Sector and neighbouring districts will drive many of our objectives.  Tackling the 
causes and impact of homelessness remains a priority for the Council and we recognise the 
assistance and ongoing work of our partner organisations, both strategic and operational, in 
helping us achieve this. 

National Context and Local Response

Homelessness, specifically rough sleeping, is rising nationally. The Government has 
committed to tackling this by introducing a Rough Sleeping Strategy in 2018 
around the three pillars of Prevention, Intervention and Recovery and overhauling 
how local authorities address homelessness through the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act in 2018. A Rough Sleeping and Homelessness Task 
Force has been also been established. 

Page 26



7

Whist actual street homeless numbers are low in the District there is a marked increase in roofless 
people who are soft surfing and their status hidden from view.  This cohort is at risk of falling into 
Rough Sleeping at any point and proactive work is needed to stem this possibility.  2019 The Council 
will benefit from inward investment through MHCLG and by working with Third Sector Partners and 
neighbouring boroughs we will deliver our objectives relating to rough sleeping and it prevention.

Overview of homelessness in Copeland

Analysis of data for 2018, following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act showed 
that:

o We assessed 401 people and made 91% of our decisions within the 56 day target
o We saw a 60% increase in the number of households placed in our temporary 

accommodation from 2017
o We saw a 83% increase in approaches for advice (541 compared to 295 in 2017) 
o We saw a 73% decrease in the number of people entitled to a full homelessness duty 

(reduced from 23 in 2017 to 6 in 2018) 
o 187 people presented to us having no fixed abode
o 14 people stated they were sleeping rough 
o The main reasons people presented as homeless were loss of private or social tenancy, 

family and friends being unable to accommodate and relationship breakdowns. 
o The main support need identified for those presenting was mental health issues

Achievements 

Copeland has always placed a focus on the prevention of homelessness and valued 
partnership working. Because of the last strategy we have: 

 Strengthened close working partnerships with the other Cumbrian Local Authorities under a 
Homeless Forum to share best practice, achieve savings and secure funding from central 
government around domestic abuse and rough sleeping

 Established The Hub in Whitehaven Police Station to deliver a multi-agency approach to anti-
social behaviour, managed by a Copeland Borough Council Officer, allowing us to intervene 
at an earlier stage

 Become a core member of the MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) for 
domestic abuse cases and the MAPPA (Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements) 
meeting to discuss high level cases for those leaving prison, providing a joined up 
partnership approach to preventing and addressing homelessness 

 Enabled increased accommodation provision for young people and adults who need support 
– Whitehaven Community Trust reopened its two hostels for young people under 25 and its 
Young Mums Project at Bakewell House; Calderwood House opened for over 25’s with 

Page 27



8

priority for ex-military personnel; The Foyer provides support and accommodation for 16-
25’s 

 Developed a Strategic Joint working protocol for homeless 16-17 year olds with Cumbria 
County Council 

 Secured funding for a Crisis and Prevention Support Officer to help victims of domestic 
abuse and sexual exploitation at risk of homelessness, who has worked with 100 women, 
men and children since being in post

 Introduced a Member Champion to promote the Housing Options service within the council 
and wider borough 

 Opened 3 safe houses for domestic abuse cases which benefit from enhanced security 
measures designed in conjunction with the Police crime prevention service

 Provided funding to partners to deliver personal budgeting advice, as well as digital, financial 
and welfare support

Opportunities and Challenges

Challenges:

 Residents are still impacted by the measures brought in by the Welfare Reform Act in 2012, 
including: 

o Freezes to Local Housing Allowances
o Housing Benefit restrictions regarding under occupation of properties (the ‘bedroom 

tax’)
o Housing Benefit restrictions for under 35’s
o Roll out of Universal Credit

 Rise in use of foodbanks
o 20% increase between 2016 to 2017

 Increase in child poverty
 Increase in people presenting with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles who are unable to 

access housing and support through established pathways
 West Cumbria has higher than average incidents of domestic abuse for population size
 60.5% of Copeland’s residents live in rural areas, making accessing our service challenging

Page 28



9

Opportunities

o Legislation: The Homelessness Reduction Act brought in several measures that provide more 
opportunity for us to prevent homelessness: 

o The duty to refer under the Homelessness Reduction Act places a duty on public 
bodies to notify us whey then believe someone is at risk of homelessness - this 
means we can intervene at an earlier stage to prevent or relive homelessness

o We can now end a main duty by securing a private rental of a minimum of 6 months 
rather than 12, giving more people access to the sector

o Our strong partnership ethos: We work in partnership with the Copeland Citizens Advice 
Bureau, Phoenix Enterprise Centre and West Cumbria Credit Union to help residents deal 
with Universal Credit issues, debt problems and general financial issues

o Private Sector Potential: We have set up a landlord forum to strengthen our relationship 
with local private landlords and explore opportunities to work together to address 
homelessness

o A Can-Do Culture: Our community leaders and third sector partners are driven inspirational 
people with whom we can work to tackle challenges and create innovative solutions for our 
most hard to reach homeless people.

o Digital Solutions: Our new software makes it easier to interact with clients via email and 
online, which is key for those who live in our more rural areas and those with a chaotic 
lifestyle who prefer text communication

o Investment: We have a proven track record of securing inward investment to provide 
discretionary wrap around services supporting our statutory offer, this enables us to tackle 
the causes of homelessness and help people change their lives rather than just put a roof 
over their heads

Page 29



10

Aims of the Strategy

We are setting 3 main aims for the Strategy.  Each aim has three delivery priorities and they will be 
supported by a detailed delivery plan:

Reduce Levels of 
Homelessness including 

the hidden homeless

Prioritise the prevention 
of homelessness

Ensure sufficient & 
appropriate 

accommodation and 
support is available for 

homeless people

Maintain existing funding and secure the resources we need to deliver

Page 30



11

2018

 Loss of Social or Private tenancy

Friends and Family unable to accommodate

Relationship breakdown
Priority One: Reduce levels of hidden homeless and potential rough sleepers
Objective 1: 

Priority 1: Reduce the levels of hidden homeless and potential 
rough sleepers

 sleepers

Top 3 reasons for people presenting as 
homeless:

Page 31

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http%3A%2F%2Fimages.clipartpanda.com%2Fhouse-clip-art-small_house_clip_art_18640.jpg&imgrefurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.clipartpanda.com%2Fcategories%2Fhouse-clip-art-free-cartoon&docid=PXlP2g8AGqxmDM&tbnid=PGlVr8OtofIKmM%3A&vet=10ahUKEwi2k-LHtdLjAhUPxoUKHREbAC0QMwi0ASgsMCw..i&w=412&h=425&bih=967&biw=1920&q=house%20image%20cartoon&ved=0ahUKEwi2k-LHtdLjAhUPxoUKHREbAC0QMwi0ASgsMCw&iact=mrc&uact=8


12

Tackling the causes of homelessness:  

Relationship Breakdown (including domestic abuse) is one of the main reasons for customers 
using our service presenting as threatened with homelessness. 
We will secure external funding to maintain our Domestic Abuse Worker role and work proactively 
with partners to ensure that customers at risk of homelessness due to abusive relationships have 
access to the support they need, for however long they need it, to break free and find suitable 
accommodation

Parental eviction leads to young people becoming vulnerable and in need of greater support from 
all the statutory services.  With more young people staying at home for longer and tensions rising 
we are seeing more cases of parents asking young people to leave home.  
We will provide advice and mediation services between young people and their parents and 
wherever possible enable them to remain in the family home.  Working proactively with County 
where 16/17 year olds are involved.

Evictions due to arrears and other tenancy breaches are one of the main reasons for 
homelessness. 
We will intervene at an earlier stage, through voluntary arrangements with our registered 
partners and private landlords, we will target our prevention funding and the Discretionary 
Housing Payment scheme to prevent evictions and then work with our partners to provide the 
necessary long-term support. 

Objective 2: 
Improve early identification of high risk groups

We will establish a new Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) with our neighbouring authorities and using 
the RSI funding funding to identify and reach out to hidden homeless people and rough sleepers 

We will promote and monitor take up of the Duty to Refer and ensure it is effectively used as a 
first trigger as well as establishing discretionary referral systems

We will encourage non-public sector bodies such as Registered Providers to adopt the Duty to 
Refer voluntarily to capture more people earlier when tenancies are failing

Objective 3:  
Provide access to a wider range of housing options

We will develop a step up-step down model co-ordinating all our services across all sectors to 
ensure individuals can move between housing services as their needs change and use the Rapid 
Rehousing Pathway funding (RRP) to provide tenancy sustainment support

We will work with third sector partners and local churches to set up a night shelter for Copeland 
from which individuals will be linked into our Rough Sleeper Initiative and given a bespoke housing 
pathway

We will explore provision of supported accommodation for those homeless people experiencing 
mental health issues

Page 32



13

2018

19 secured supported accommodation

29 secured social housing tenancies

4 were able to remain with family or friends

Priority 2: Prioritise the Prevention of Homelessness

67people were helped to secure alternative accommodation:

Page 33

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http%3A%2F%2Fimages.clipartpanda.com%2Fhouse-clip-art-small_house_clip_art_18640.jpg&imgrefurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.clipartpanda.com%2Fcategories%2Fhouse-clip-art-free-cartoon&docid=PXlP2g8AGqxmDM&tbnid=PGlVr8OtofIKmM%3A&vet=10ahUKEwi2k-LHtdLjAhUPxoUKHREbAC0QMwi0ASgsMCw..i&w=412&h=425&bih=967&biw=1920&q=house%20image%20cartoon&ved=0ahUKEwi2k-LHtdLjAhUPxoUKHREbAC0QMwi0ASgsMCw&iact=mrc&uact=8


14

15 secured private rented tenancies
Priority 2: Prioritise the prevention of homelessness
Objective 1:
Help the customer remain in their home wherever possible

We will work with our strategic partners through the Councils Social Inclusion Policy and Delivery framework 
to ensure people have access to the advice and support they need. 

We will mediate with Registered Providers, Private Sector Landlords and family members on behalf of the 
customer and provide practical interventions and support to address issues leading to the threat of 
homelessness

We will monitor the impact of fixed term tenancies where these are introduced by registered providers to 
ensure that any potential impact is mitigated 

We will work with partners in the County Council, health and third sector to ensure that those with drug or 
alcohol dependencies can access the support and accommodation they need and link this in with our RRP 
project

Objective 2: 
Maximise financial support and access to financial support and advice

We will make effective use of the Discretionary Housing Payment budget, prioritising keeping people in their 
accommodation when it suits their needs 

We will continue to work with and financially support partnerships between the Citizens Advice, Credit 
Union, Phoenix Enterprise Centre and Job Centre Plus to resolve benefit issues and associated debt 
problems to make paying the rent more achievable

We will improve access to services in rural areas and for those who find it difficult to access services in the 
main towns

Objective 3: 
Address the housing needs of 16/17 year olds 

We will work with Children’s Services to identify/develop appropriate move on accommodation for young 
people

We will comply with the Young Person’s Protocol with Social Services to facilitate a joined up service and 
clear process for under 18’s at risk of homelessness. We will attend the monthly Protocol Implementation 
group meeting to address any issues arising from the protocol and provide effective resolution

We will comply with Local Care Leaver Protocols, provide additional support for care leavers through our 
benefits and council tax system and have a SPOC for such cases

Priority 3: Ensure sufficient & appropriate accommodation and support is available Page 34



15

2018

In 2018:

Moves from 
Temporary 

accommodation to: 

Social 
Housing:

18
Private 
Sector 

Housing
5

Supported 
Housing:

7

Women's 
refuge:

1

Another 
Authority:

2

14

51

Accepted Refused

CAP Referrals 2018

50

15

Accepted Refused

Calderwood House 
Referrals 2018

Number of Temporary Accommodation Units:

Priority 3: Ensure sufficient and appropriate accommodation and support is available 

Page 35



16

Objective 1: 
Improve accommodation available for medium to high risk customers
Many of our customers are not accepted into supported housing as they are deemed too high risk 
or they do not engage consistently and so we have a growing group of people we are unable to 
help into settled housing through existing pathways.

We will work with the other Cumbrian district councils and the County Council through the 
Homeless Forum and Cumbria Supporting People Group to review referral criterial and establish 
county wide protocols 

We will monitor the CAP process and analyse the reasons people are refused access to supported 
housing and engage with County Council to address the issues through improved commissioning 
of services

We will work with registered providers, county council and Homes England to explore the 
potential for housing for those experiencing mental health and homelessness

Objective 2:   
Improve access to the Private Rented Sector
The private rental sector is growing both nationally and locally and we need to improve access to 
this provision

We will address the barriers that prevent our clients accessing private rented accommodation by 
building relationships with local landlords and understanding what assistance they need to open 
up the market through our forum and one to one support for landlords

We will hold two landlord forums per year, publish a guide for services users and support 
landlords to understand their legal positions and incentives offered

We will launch our Rapid Rehousing Pathway Project, working with partners to secure housing 
quickly for those in insecure situations and at risk of rough sleeping which underpins all our work 
in this area

Objective 3:
Review our temporary accommodation provision

We will carry out a review of our current accommodation locations, our overall offer and charging 
structure to ensure services provided meet needs and costs are recovered.

We will reduce our average stay by introducing a landlord rent guarantee scheme and work with 
private landlords to establish an incentives framework, lining with our Private rented Sector 
Initiative and funding stream

We will reduce repeat homelessness and use of B&B by ensuring access to move-on/transition 
support for all those moving from TA into permanent accommodation to help them sustain their 
future tenancy

Page 36



17

Implementation and Monitoring

This Strategy sits within the framework of the Housing Strategy and the Councils Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, which reports in the Council Executive and Full Council, will oversee 
implementation.  KPIs are in place and reported through to Full Council quarterly.

Progress against the delivery plan will be reporting to the Copeland Housing Partnership at a local 
level, and via the Homelessness and Domestic Abuse Forums (sitting under the Cumbria Health and 
Wellbeing Group sub group) under the Cumbria Housing Group.  

As the Strategic Housing Authority, we recognise the contributions made by other Public Bodies and 
third sector agencies regarding the prevention of homelessness, and the delivery of this Strategy, and 
we restate our commitment to working with the other Local Authorities in Cumbria to share best 
practice and offer consistency across the County. 

Through the life of the strategy, we will monitor the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act in the 
borough and countywide and how it affects resources and service delivery. 

The strategy is accompanied by a detailed delivery action plan setting out how each objective will be 
addressed through the life of the plan, it will be reviewed annually.

Page 37



18

Appendix

Legal Requirements

The Homelessness Act 2002 requires every Local Authority to have a homelessness strategy and to 
publish a new one every five years. The Strategy should be kept under review and Local Authorities 
may modify it accordingly. 

Under section 3(1) of the 2002 Act a homelessness strategy means a strategy for:

(a) preventing homelessness in the district
(b) securing that sufficient accommodation is and will be available for people in the district who are 
or may become homeless and,
(c) securing the satisfactory provision of support for people in the district who are or may become 
homeless or who have been homeless and need support to prevent them becoming homeless again 
 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

The Homelessness Reduction Act increases the requirements for 
Copeland Borough Council to help all eligible applicants – rather than just 
those with a ‘priority need’. 

An applicant with a priority need is defined as

1. (a) a pregnant woman or a person with whom she resides or might reasonably be expected to 
reside 

2. (b) a person with whom dependent children reside or might reasonably be expected to reside 
3. (c) a person who is vulnerable as a result of old age, mental illness, learning disability or 

physical disability or other special reason, or with whom such a person resides or might 
reasonably be expected to reside

4. (d) a person aged 16 or 17 who is not a ‘relevant child’ or a child in need to whom a local 
authority owes a duty under section 20 of the Children Act 1989 

5. (e) a person under 21 who was (but is no longer) looked after, accommodated or fostered 
between the ages of 16 and 18 (except a person who is a ‘relevant student’);

6. (f) a person aged 21 or more who is vulnerable as a result of having been looked after, 
accommodated or fostered (except a person who is a ‘relevant student’) 

7. (g) a person who is vulnerable as a result of having been a member of Her Majesty’s regular 
naval, military or air forces 

8. (h) a person who is vulnerable as a result of: 
1. (i) having served a custodial sentence;
2. (ii) having been committed for contempt of court or any other kindred offence; or,
3. (iii) having been remanded in custody;

Page 38

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/20


19

9. (i) a person who is vulnerable as a result of ceasing to occupy accommodation because of 
violence from another person or threats of violence from another person which are likely to be 
carried out 

10. (j) a person who is homeless, or threatened with homelessness, as a result of an emergency 
such as flood, fire or other disaster.

Duty to Refer

All public authorities (such as the NHS, schools, social care) are required in law notify Copeland 
Borough Council if someone they’re working with is facing or threatened with homelessness.   This is 
called the duty to refer and can be made using the email dutytorefer@copeland.gov.uk or via the 
Council website link.

It adds two new duties:

1. Duty to take steps to prevent homelessness: Copeland Borough Council now has to help people 
at risk of losing suitable accommodation as soon as they are threatened with homelessness within 
56 days, and to provide a bespoke Personal Housing Plan to address their housing needs. 

2. Duty to take steps to relieve homelessness: Copeland Borough Council will have to help all those 
who are homeless to secure suitable accommodation, regardless of whether they are 
‘intentionally homeless’ or priority need. This means that all eligible households are given tailored 
advice via a Personalised Housing Plan and offered help to find a home, ensuring that the true 
scale of homelessness is recorded. 

If neither of the above steps work and the household becomes, or remains, homeless then a main 
duty decision will be made and those that are found in priority need or unintentionally homeless will 
be entitled to further assistance, but non priority households will not be entitled to further help.

The Government provided £72.7 million funding to support the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and to help Councils prepare for the changes.  Copeland Borough Council received 
£41,770 split over three years. In preparation for the Act the Housing Options Team underwent 
intensive training with a recognised expert in the sector and invested in new software to enhance the 
customer experience and provide the statistical information required to monitor the impact of the 
Act. Customers are now provided with a Personalised Housing Plan after their initial interview and can 
contact their Housing Options Advisor via email through the online software, as well as in person or 
by phone, to update their plans or raise a query. 

National Context

In December 2018 the number of homeless families and individuals placed in temporary 
accommodation nationally rose to 83,700, a rise of 5% on 2017 figures.

A national estimate taken in the autumn of 2017 counted 4,751 people sleeping rough, an increase of 
15% on the previous year.1 In 2018 the figure decreased by 2% to 4,677.2

1 ‘Rough Sleeping Strategy’ MCLG August 2018
2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781567/Rough_Sleeping_Statistics_
2018_release.pdf 

Page 39

mailto:dutytorefer@copeland.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781567/Rough_Sleeping_Statistics_2018_release.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/781567/Rough_Sleeping_Statistics_2018_release.pdf


20

Government has pledged to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it completely by 2027. The 
established Task Force, Rough Sleeping Strategy and the Homelessness Reduction Act introduced in 
2018 indicate its commitment to doing so, and funding has been made available to Local Authorities 
through the Rough Sleeping Initiative and Rapid Rehousing Pathway to tackle rough sleeping and its 
impact.  

Local Context

Copeland does not have the same issues with rough sleeping as compared to the National statistics – 
in 2016 and 2018 no rough sleepers were counted in the official count, and in 2017 only one was 
recorded. However, in 2016 29 people presented to us as rough sleeping; in 2017 this reduced to 22. 
Following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 187 people presented to us as rough 
sleeping or no fixed abode. The reality behind these figures is that Copeland has a high number of 
hidden homeless or roofless households including families and single adults, who are staying with 
friends and family.

In 2016 we were approached by 393 households for advice, reducing to 295 in 2017 but increasing to 
541 in 2018 following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act. Of these households 13 in 
2016, 23 in 2017 and 6 in 2018 were accepted as entitled to the full homelessness duty. These 
households were predominantly single parents or single adults. The reduction in 2018 reflects the 
change of focus under the Homelessness Reduction Act and the successful prevention activity. 

Housing Provision

For Young People:  

Since the last strategy the housing offer for Young People under 25 has increased significantly. 
Whitehaven Community Trust has re-opened its hostel for single under 
25’s on Lowther Street in Whitehaven and also established a Mother and 
Baby hostel on Irish Street, providing young mothers with 
accommodation and support before and after their babies are born. The 
project also supports young women fleeing domestic violence.  

The Whitehaven Foyer, which opened in 2016 but was officially opened by 
HRH Prince Charles in 2017, provides supported accommodation for young 
people aged 16 to 25 who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, and who 
require support to develop vital life skills and access formal training, 
educational and employment opportunities.   Copeland facilitated the opening 
of two move on accommodation units on site and provided £5,000 funding for 
furnishings. 

Care leavers in the borough aged 18-25 are either exempt from Council Tax or entitled to a discount 
dependent on the number of other residents in their property, helping them make the transition from 
being supported by Cumbria County Council and living independently. 

For Adults:

Calderwood House, which opened its doors in 2015, provides 
accommodation and support to over 24’s, giving priority to ex-military 
personnel. It is abstinence based, with regular drug and alcohol 

Page 40



21

testing, and provides vital support to Copeland’s Housing Options Team by being prepared to give 
people a second chance

Partnership Working

We work in strong partnerships with various organisations, both statutory and voluntary, to ensure 
customers who present as homeless or at risk of homelessness receive the support and help that they 
need. 

The Councils enabling role - bringing together and supporting key partners to establish schemes and 
freeing up barriers to progress, providing match funding and in kind support - has successfully resulted 
in increased hostel and temporary accommodation provision.  Copeland now has access to a range of 
supported housing provisions including for 16-25 year olds, young mothers and low risk rough 
sleepers.

The Homeless Forum, sitting underneath the Cumbria Housing Group and meeting quarterly, was set 
up to allow the six Cumbrian District Councils to meet and share best practice and knowledge.  In 
response to the Homelessness Reduction Act a new IT system was jointly procured and considerable 
savings achieved through partnership working.

The establishment of The Hub in Whitehaven to offer a multi-agency approach to dealing with anti-
social behaviour means that we have a wider understanding of the issues facing some customers and 
allows us to be involved with some customers at an earlier stage. Our Officers regularly attend MARAC 
(Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) meetings to discuss high level domestic abuse cases; 
LMAP (Local Multi Agency Partnership) meetings to discuss town centre and anti-social behaviour 
issues and MAPPA (Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements) meetings to discuss high level cases 
for those leaving prison, to ensure early intervention for those who may have more complex housing 
needs.

The Housing Options Officers work closely with partners such as Unity, Health and Well Being Coaches 
(HAWCS) through Social Services, the Cumbria Mental Health Team, The Freedom Project and Victim 
Support to ensure customers access the help and advice they need regarding addiction and other 
social issues, so that they have a greater chance of maintaining tenancies and keeping their homes. 

The Joint Protocol for Homeless 16-17 year olds has been in place since 2015.  This is a strategic 
document which sets out how partners across the county will work together to prevent/relieve 
homelessness for 16-17 year olds and is underpinned by the Local Commitment for Copeland.  The 
Local Commitment was developed by a range of local partners including CBC and CCC and translates 
the strategic document into our local offer.  The implementation of this work is overseen by the 
Protocol Implementation Group, (co-chaired by our Senior Housing Options Officer and an Officer 
from Children’s and Families Service), which meets on a bi-monthly basis and is regularly attended by 
CBC, CCC, Impact, Whitehaven Community Trust, Inspira and Lakes College.  We have good joint 
working in place for 16-17 year olds who present as homeless and are engaged in drafting a Care 
Leaver’s Protocol with the CCC Youth Homeless and Housing Team.

Copeland provides grant funding to partner agencies and organisations to deliver personal budgeting 
advice, digital, financial and welfare support which is tailored to customers’ individual needs. We are 
approved foodbank voucher holders and have seen use of these rise in line with national figures

Temporary Accommodation Provision

Page 41



22

Copeland Borough Council has seven temporary accommodation units, rented from a registered 
provider, to house customers who are considered to be in priority need, including three safe houses 
for domestic abuse cases.  These premises have been assessed by the Police crime prevention 
specialist and benefit from enhanced security and target hardening measures such as safe rooms.  
Having this temporary accommodation available means we can reduce the use and overall cost of bed 
and breakfast accommodation.

Most households who are placed in our temporary accommodation are assisted to move into general 
needs social or private housing, with some being allocated supported or sheltered housing. Customers 
can stay in this accommodation for up to 56 days under the new legislation.

Financial Exclusion

Changes and reductions in benefits under the Welfare Reform Act in 2012 have put some of our 
residents under significant financial pressure and at risk of building or increasing debt. Following on 
from freezes to Local Housing Allowances, rent restrictions within Housing Benefit due to the under-
occupation of social housing properties have led to a demand for smaller accommodation that the 
market cannot meet and so some customers remain in properties that they cannot afford. Restrictions 
to the amount payable via the benefit system for rent for under 35s limit the accommodation that is 
affordable for that age group and result in people taking on accommodation that they cannot afford. 

Universal Credit has now been fully rolled out in the borough. Copeland residents have experienced 
many of the same issues as have been reported widely in the national media – delays in payments 
being made, large deductions being taken unexpectedly for rent or other arrears, issues with 
payments for rent being made directly to the customer rather than the landlord – and these put 
significant pressure on people’s ability to meet their housing costs. As a Council we work closely with 
The Department of Work and Pensions to mitigate these issues. 

The borough has seen increased use of Foodbanks in recent years in line with 
national figures – there was a 20% increase in use from 2016 to 2017, with people 
presenting as homeless increasing by 7%. The Trussell Trust cites the top three 
reasons for use of a food bank nationally in 2017/18 as Low Income (28.49%), Benefit 
Delays (23.74%) and Benefit changes (17.73%) and these are reflected in the local 
figures for Copeland. 

In January 2018 3,368 children in Copeland were deemed to be in Child Poverty (22.6% of all children 
in the Borough). Households are deemed to be in poverty if their household income is less than 60% 
of the average. Of the 23 households that Copeland accepted as homeless in 2017, 15 had dependent 
children. Research has identified childhood poverty in particular as a powerful predictor of all forms 
of homelessness. 3

The Council is a lead member of the West Cumbria Child Poverty Action Group and provides in kind 
resources and promotional opportunities to bring partners together and create integrated approaches 
to tackling child poverty.

We will continue to work with partners to ensure that our residents can access support and advice 
regarding welfare benefits, debt services and health services to enable them to move out of poverty 

3 Glen Bramley & Suzanne Fitzpatrick (2018) Homelessness in the UK: who is most at risk?, Housing Studies, 33:1, 96-
116,available at https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/02673037.2017.1344957 

Page 42

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/02673037.2017.1344957


23

where possible. Copeland Borough Council along with its partners such as Copeland Community Fund 
has funded the Citizens Advice, Whitehaven and District Credit Union and Phoenix Enterprise Centre 
to deliver tailored debt, financial and digital support where it is needed, and provides in kind support 
for local initiatives to tackle poverty and health issues.

   

Complex needs

One of the challenges the Council faces is how to support customers with complex issues and chaotic, 
high risk lifestyles who are unable to access housing and support using the established pathways.    We 
need to seek innovative ways to resolve this problem whilst influencing County wide policy and 
commissioning through influencing the work of the Supporting People team.  

Currently customers in Cumbria who require supported accommodation are referred into the County 
Council Supporting People service known as CAP (Central Access Point) to be matched to suitable 
available accommodation, though many are rejected due to the complexity of their needs or because 
they do not appear to engage with the process.

In 2016/17 28% of referrals made into CAP were accepted, in 2017/18 30% were accepted and in 
2018/19 21% were accepted. The main reasons for people being declined were that they were not 
contactable or did not attend appointments, or the customer was deemed too high risk to be 
accepted. 

Our Housing Options Team will continue to monitor the outcomes of referrals made and strive to 
improve the offer to our customers to ensure that these customers can access housing via this route.  

Domestic Abuse

Domestic Abuse is a significant issue in West Cumbria with higher than average incidents for 
population size.   This can be a key cause of homelessness and at the same time a hidden problem 
with those suffering abuse remaining in long term relationships unaware of how to break free.  
Through our Crisis and Prevention Support Officer and relationship with the Police and support 
agencies we look to raise awareness of the help available, build confidence in reporting and address 
associated issues such as Sexual Exploitation, ‘County Lines’ drug use and Modern Slavery in the 
Borough. ‘County Lines’ refers to the exploitation of vulnerable children and adults by gangs for the 
transportation and dealing of drugs around the country and is of growing concern in the County.  

Private Rental Sector

We are working to establish better links and mutually beneficial relationships with our local landlords 
and have re-introduced a Landlord Forum to facilitate this. Copeland has seen an increase in the 
number of people renting privately in the Borough and we will support our customers to view private 
lets as an alternative option to Social Housing.  All private rental properties are inspected before any 
introductions to landlords are made or any homeless prevention funding released to ensure that they 
are of a decent standard.

Page 43



24

The Homelessness Reduction Act gives Local Authorities the authority to end a main duty by securing 
a private rental of a minimum of 6 months for our customers, and by establishing strong relationships 
with our local landlords we improve our ability to do this. 

We are ambitious regarding addressing the empty homes in the borough and can see opportunities 
to address these and our need for affordable settled accommodation for customers threatened with 
homelessness, and will explore these through the life of this strategy.

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings  

The Cumbrian Local Authorities and the majority of the 
Registered Providers have formed a partnership to provide 
a Choice Based Lettings System across the county called 
Cumbria Choice.  The partnership has adopted a shared 
allocations policy and this is the means by which social housing property is let in all the districts. 
Cumbria Choice operates a needs-based banding system which is set out below.  The bands are 
arranged to reflect housing need with the highest Band, Band A, indicating the greatest need for 
housing. We have recently amended the wording of the banding to reflect the Homelessness 
Reduction Act.

The system is a vital part of the Housing Options service, replacing the old Nominations System 
whereby the Council would “nominate” homeless people to the social landlords to rehouse.  Cumbria 
Choice is used on a daily basis, giving the Council the ability to allocate banding and support 
applications to ensure they are expressing interest in properties and can be rehoused as soon as 
possible.

Customers wishing to move or secure accommodation register their details and preferences for 
housing, and can bid on-line for available properties to rent. 

Banding

The main bands that the Housing Options Team use are as follows:

Band A: Households who have made a statutory homeless application to the Local Authority under 
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 and have been determined by the Council as owed the main 
homelessness duty under sections 193(2), 195(2) or 193C (4) of the Act. This band will only be 
allocated once the s189b duty ends and the customer is in priority need and unintentionally 
homeless.

Band B: Households who have made a homeless application and the Local Authority has accepted the 
s189B Relief duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

Customers owed the relief duty may include;

 Rough sleepers
 Those moving between friends and relatives
 Those who have accommodation, but the Local Authority do not consider it’s reasonable to 

occupy
 Those living in temporary accommodation

After 4 weeks of being owed this duty we can place bids on behalf of the applicant, or they can be 
placed on auto bid 

Page 44



25

Band C: Households who have made a homeless application and the Local Authority have accepted 
the s195 Prevention of homelessness duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

Challenging Cases 

On occasion applicants who are not excluded and are at the top of the short list are ‘skipped’ for 
management reasons, often due to their tenancy history.  This sometimes happens even when 
properties have not been advertised/noted to the Local Authorities as sensitive lets. 

A Task and Finish Group was set up between registered providers and Local Authorities to discuss 
these issues and any sensitive lets are now highlighted as such at the point of advertising to avoid 
abortive work at district level.

This approach means that challenging cases are managed locally, through discussions and negotiation 
led by Local Authorities under a case conference type model, to see what can be achieved through 
partnership working and what would be needed in each case to allow access to housing.  The number 
of cases affected are monitored and discussed at the Partnership Board.

Financial Issues

Copeland Council has a long standing history of supporting and funding Homeless prevention 
services through external grants and core revenue funding and has a track record of early and 
successful interventions to prevent homelessness. However, along with many of our partners the 
Council faces increasing financial pressure and has to deliver its statutory services with reduced 
budgets. We will continue to work with our partners to deliver the best service to our most 
vulnerable customers and seek innovative solutions to address their needs. 

Whilst we have been successful in securing external funding for two key roles we need to ensure 
that we can continue to support these in the longer term and so need to identify further funding 
sources for when the current funding expires. 

Copeland Borough Council provides funding to Citizens Advice, Cumbria Law Centre, Phoenix 
Enterprise Centre, Whitehaven and District Credit Union so that all residents can access budgeting, 
legal and debt advice as well as digital support, but this support is especially vital to our customers 
who are at risk of homelessness. 

Page 45



26

Strategic Housing
Copeland Borough Council

Page 46



27

Market Hall
Whitehaven

Cumbria
CA28 7JG

01946 598300
info@copeland.gov.uk

www.copeland.gov.uk

Page 47

mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Executive 160919

Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 Performance Report – Quarter 1 of 2019-20

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Cllr David Moore

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy

REPORT AUTHOR: Gillian Butterworth, Performance and Risk Management 
Officer

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE? 
The Executive is responsible for managing the resources of the Council and seeking to 
ensure that best value through continuous improvement is embedded throughout all the 
Council’s business.

RECOMMENDATION:

a) Note performance against the Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan and KPIs and any actions 
taken to improve compliance with targets. 

1.        INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Executive assess progress against the Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 through 
quarterly monitoring of a Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan (CSDP) and a suite of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs).

1.2 This report summarises of performance against the Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan 
and the KPIs for Quarter one of 2019/20.  The report also provides context and 
remedial actions where CSDP Key Deliverables or KPIs have not been fully achieved.  

Further details and analysis for Key Deliverables and KPIs are listed in the report 
appendices.

 
2. PROGRESS AND PERFORMANCE DURING QUARTER ONE OF 2019/20

2.1 The Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan

2.2 To realise the ambitions and outcomes of the Corporate Strategy, the Corporate 
Strategy Delivery Plan (CSDP) for 2019/20 identifies twenty one Key Deliverables that 
the Council is aims to achieve. 

2.3 Each Key Deliverable within the CSDP is broken down into smaller S.M.A.R.T sub-
actions known as ‘Milestones’.

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Executive 160919

2.4 For Quarter one there were a combined 13 Milestones to be completed across the 
Key Deliverables, of which 12 were completed (92%).

2.5 KD 7 – Digital Platforms.  The milestones were not met for this Key Deliverable by 
the end of Quarter one, however, the website homepage refresh is complete and is     
expected to be live by end of Quarter two.  Approval of the ICT Strategy and e-
purchasing baseline activities have been postponed to quarters three and four due 
to priorities being focused for on the PSN health check and implementation of the 
action plan in order to achieve compliance during quarters one and two.

2.6 Table 1 below shows the overall progress as a percentage for each Key Deliverable 
based on the number of milestones set and achieved for each individual deliverable.

2.7 Progress highlighted in green shows Key Deliverables that are on track.  
Where progress is 0%, this shows those Key Deliverables that, whilst work is ongoing, 
there were no milestones expected to be reported on during Quarter one.  Executive 
are advised that this should only be the case for Quarter one reporting.
Table1

Key Deliverable Progress in Q1

KD 1 Pride of Place-Town Centre Regeneration 
Scheme 25%

KD 2 Pride of Place public – Public Realm schemes 0%

KD 3 High Street Fund 25%

KD 4 Economic Vision for Copeland 25%

Ambition 1
Town Center 
Regeneration

KD 5 Community Led Housing Schemes 25%

KD 6 Strategic Asset Management Plan 14%

KD 7 Digital Platforms 0%

KD 8 Commercial Infrastructure 25%
Ambition 2
Commercialisation

KD 9 Beacon 5 year Business Plan 0%

KD 10 SL Social Impact Plan 0%

KD 11 Beacon Portal for Learning 25%

KD 12 Work and Skills Programme 33%

KD 13 Enterprise Initiatives 0%

KD 14 Domestic Abuse Prevention Project 25%

KD 15 Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities 25%

Ambition 3
Skills, Employment 
and Social 
wellbeing

KD 16 Strategic Housing Offer 25%

KD 17 Work Force Development Plan 0%

KD 18 ICT Strategy 0%

KD 19 Sustainable Financial Strategy 0%

KD 20 Bereavement Services Expansion Programme 33%

Ambition 4
Strengthen the way 
we operate

KD 21 Accommodation Strategy 0%

Page 50



Executive 160919

2.8 Key Performance Indicators 

2.9 To quantify progress against the Corporate Strategy, the Council currently monitors 
twenty five Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).  

2.10 At the end of Quarter one, 75% of KPIs were on target (18 out of 24, where one KPI 
is reported annually and therefore not expected to meet a quarterly target).

2.11 Where comparisons were possible, 90% of KPIs performed as well as or better than 
same quarter in 2018/19 (20 out of 22 comparable KPIs). Details are provided in 
Appendix B.

2.12 Table B shows ‘at a glance’ which KPIs met their quarterly targets. The Executive are 
advised that this table is now also shows whether the KPI is corporately owned or is 
dependent upon intervention from others.
Table B

Corporately owned Performance Indicators Was quarterly 
target met?

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through Commercial activity Annual

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR claims

KPI 3.1 Percentage of Non-domestic Rates Collected

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing - new HB claims

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for HB claims

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of circumstances for CTR claims

KPI 3.8 Homeless relief cases

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project

KPI 4.2 e of Freedom of information requests resolved within timescale

KPI 5.1 Percentage of 'major' planning applications determined within 
13 weeks

KPI 5.2 Percentage of planning 'minor' planning applications determined 
within 8 weeks

KPI 5.3 Percentage of 'other' applications determined within 8 weeks

KPI 5.4 Percentage of planning appeals dismissed

Non- corporately owned Performance Indicator Was quarterly 
target met?

KPI 1.3 Number of new homes approved

KPI 1.4 Number of new homes built

KPI 3.2 Local people supported with employability and skills

KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual household waste

Page 51



Executive 160919

Corporately owned Performance Indicators Was quarterly 
target met?

KPI 1.5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes BUILT

KPI 1.1 Percentage of Council Tax collected

KPI 1.2 Number empty homes <6months brought back into use

KPI 1.6 Number of larger family and aspirational homes built

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic Development Secured

KPI 4.1 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage one

KPI 4.3 a_ % of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting  

KPI 4.4b Percentage CTAX collected using DDeb payment method

2.13 For the six KPIs that did not meet target, the following context is offered,

 KPI 3.5b – Speed of processing new Council Tax reduction Scheme claim forms
During Quarter one there was a period of ‘catch-up’ following year end and a 
high volume of Universal Credit notifications to process.  It is anticipated that 
processing times will reduce during Quarter two.

 KPIs 1.3 Number of new homes approved, 1.4 Number of new homes built and 
1.5 Number of new affordable homes built, are dependent upon external agents 
or their actions.  Also the current targets for these KPIs were defined in the Local 
Plan 2013-28 likely that these targets will change/reduce during 2019 as new 
housing needs information is approved for the new Local Plan.

 KPI 3.2 Local people supported with employability and skills. 
Arrangements are now in place for a second three year programme through the 
Copeland Work and Skills Partnership, of which we are the lead.  It is anticipated 
that the target for this KPI will be met as the second programme gains 
momentum.

 KPI 4.3b Percentage reduction in residual household waste.
There was a significant reduction in residual household waste in 2018/19 due 
largely to the introduction of the new recycling service. The amount of waste 
collected for disposal has since levelled out and a further reduction has been 
seen in Quarter one.  This was anticipated after the initial step change of last 
year.  The communications campaign to encourage waste reduction and 
recycling continues and we expect continued improvement of this indicator.

Page 52



Executive 160919

2.14 Data and trend monitoring

The Council monitor five additional performance indicators as they have been 
identified as relevant to the ambitions of our Corporate Strategy.
It is to be noted that these outcomes are not within Council control, and therefore 
have no annual target set by us.

Data/trends to be monitored Q1  of 
2019/20

Q4  of 
2018/19

Q3  of 
2018/19

Q2  of 
2018/19

Q1  of 
2018/19

Number of empty business premises 
within the borough.

181 202 205 202 191

Number of new businesses within the 
borough. (New business registrations)

22 36 31 24 23

Number of repeat homelessness case in 2 
years

4 4 6 4 5

Number of homelessness cases where 
Welfare Reform is a factor.

8 14 1 2 5

Number of Domestic Violence Incidents 
with a repeat victim.

119 125 152 189 145

3.0 CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The Quarter one out-turn position is,
 92% of Key Deliverables are on target,
 75% of KPIs have met their Quarter one target. 
 90% of comparable KPIs have improved or maintained performance when 

compared to the same quarter last year.
 Where progress or targets were not met, context and remedial actions have been 
offered either in the body of the report or as part of the appendices.

4.          STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  
This report provides a progress update to the Executive on key deliverables arising 
from the Corporate Strategy.  Any legal issues arising from any individual key 
deliverables will be dealt with as appropriate. 

4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 2019/20 Budget and Capital Plan 
underpins the 2016-2020 Corporate Strategy. 

Page 53



Executive 160919

4.3 EIA Comments: 
The Corporate Strategy and Service Plans against which performance is measured 
have undergone Equality Impact Assessments.  Individual projects and partnership 
delivery against the Corporate Delivery Plan are subject to provide EIAs.

4.4 Policy Framework: 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules as set down in the Council’s 
Constitution. This report directly reports on the delivery of the Corporate Strategy 
and associated documents.

5.  APPENDICIES
Appendix A - Corporate Delivery Plan Report for Q1 of 2019/20

Appendix B - Key Performance Indicator Report for Q1 of 2019/20

Page 54



Appendix A

1

Key Deliverable 1 – 
Pride of Place-Town Centre Regeneration 
Scheme

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Establish funding committed/ available going forward Facelift grant process paused to 
ascertain available budget for 
potential re-use grants.

Q2 Agreed Final Year programme -  

Q3 Deliver agreed programme -  

Pride of Place Town Centre Regeneration 
Scheme
Within the Pride of Place, focus on our population 
centres to work with others to increase the use of 
currently empty buildings and encourage greater 
occupation of current derelict shop buildings.

Q4 Annual review -  

Key Deliverable 3-
High Street Fund

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Agreed Whitehaven Vision EOI submitted with agreed vision.  
Successful and invited to develop 
business case for submission in Jan 
2020.

Q2 Agreed Town Centre priorities in readiness for funding 
applications

-  

Q3 Feedback on progress of funding applications -  

High Street Fund/ Stronger Towns Fund/ LEP 
Engagement
To work on the future role of Town Centers to identify 
additional resources and partners to engage in 
developments bespoke to each of our towns.
All efforts will be made through partnership activity 
to identify and use external funding to maintain 
momentum on town center improvement activity 
under the CPoP initiative Q4 Preparation of delivery plans 2021 -  

Key Deliverable 4 -
Economic Vision for Copeland

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Review of existing evidence and drivers ARUP commissioned. Work 
commenced and phase 1, to review 
existing evidence and drivers, 
completed.

Q2 socialisation with partners and approval -  

Produce a new Economic Vision for Copeland (with 
masterplan) on behalf of the Future Opportunities 
Group.

Q3 Implement framework -  

Corporate Delivery Plan Report for Quarter 1 of 2019/20

P
age 55



Appendix A

2

Key Deliverable 4 -
Economic Vision for Copeland

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q4 Review of growth and economic programme -  

Key Deliverable 5-
Community Led Housing Schemes

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Identification of potential new projects identified key project for CLH is 
about bringing empty homes back 
into use and working group now 
working to explore options

Q2 Business Plans for new schemes to Advisory group. -  

Q3 Award funds and project milestones agreed – work with 
Homes England and partners to draw down funds

-  

Use and maximise the Council’s community led 
housing approach and fund to impact our Town 
Centers and mitigate for any negative impacts of 
second and empty homes
 
Community Led Housing Schemes
Identify, develop and deliver a number of small 
Community Led Housing Schemes (2)
 Q4 Advisory group oversee delivery against milestones -  

Key Deliverable 6-
Strategic Asset Management Plan

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Strategic Asset Management Plan 
Review of existing assets.

The strategic assets available for 
CAT have been reviewed within the 
full asset list.  Other asset 
categories are still in review.

Q2 Sport Strategy and deliverables agreed. 
Whitehaven Sports Centre Development commences.

-  

Q2 Revised Asset Management Plan agreed. -  

Q3 Implementation of Asset management Action Plan -  

Q4 Castle Park Management Plan agreed -  

Q4 Completion of Sports Centre Development -  

To agree a Strategic Asset Management Plan to 
facilitate growth in the borough and generate 
investment opportunities in the borough.
Asset Management Plan
Sports Centre Development  
Castle Park Management Plan
 

Q4 Performance against the Asset Mgmt. Action Plan -  

Key Deliverable 7 – 
Digital Platforms

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

P
age 56



Appendix A

3

Key Deliverable 7 – 
Digital Platforms

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Complete website refresh 
ICT Strategy Approved 
Baseline current digital access standards through 
Customer Services and new ICT Strategy.

Website refresh complete and is 
expected to be live by end of Q2

ICT Strategy approval and e-purchasing 
baseline activity have been postponed to 
Q3 due to priority focus or Q1 and Q2 
being PSN health check, and 
implementation of the action plan in 
order to achieve compliance

Q4 Identify and source e-purchasing options for services that 
are ready to provide digital access. - 

-  

Use of Digital Platforms to deliver commercial 
opportunities
To provide a renewed ICT strategy which will include 
the delivery of commercial opportunities through 
digital platforms

Q4 Install and launce e-purchasing systems. -  

Key Deliverable 8 - 
Commercial Infrastructure

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Formalisation of Commercial priorities 
Review current operational commercial activity with a 
view to extension and increased market share to generate 
additional revenue

Draft Commercial Strategy 
approved by CLT and on Exec 
agenda 19th August
Council has given approval for 
restructure to recruit a Head of 
Commercial Services position (Q2)

Q2 Assess opportunities for commercial investment and 
diversification in other trading and non-trading and 
commercial activates.

-  

Q2 Extract cost savings achieved through procurement and 
contract mgmt.

-  

To continue to operate existing key trade services on 
a commercial basis with regards to value for money, 
quality and competitiveness.
Improve our commercial infrastructure to support 
potential for commercial activity and support 
increased income.

Q4 Commercialisation of website and use of customer portal 
and CRM

-  

Key Deliverable 11 – 
Beacon Portal for Learning

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Maintain the Beacon education and learning approach 
for schools and lifelong learning for residents and 
visitors and the importance of arts, culture and 

Q1 Education Programme for 2019/20 agreed and 
implemented

Learning programme has been set 
up to end December 2019.  Jan to 
March 2020 will be arranged in 

P
age 57



Appendix A

4

Key Deliverable 11 – 
Beacon Portal for Learning

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

winter term (Oct to Dec 2019

Q2 Delivery of Summer programme -  

Q3 Virtual Museum Learning Initiative -  

creative thinking and skills to underpin wellbeing and 
STEAM. 
Using the Beacon as a Portal for Learning and 
maintaining the education programme with schools

Q4 Development of 2020/21 programme. -  

Key Deliverable 12 – 
Work and Skills Programme

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Funding application for new Work and Skills Partnership 
Programme

SL funding secured.  CCF funding 
application submitted.

Q2 Design and implementation of new Work and Skills 
Programme

-  

Work and Skills Programme 
Ensure we sustain and develop our leadership and 
facilitation of the Copeland Work and Skills 
Partnership and its continuously developing 
programme of complementary partnership delivery to 
meet the known gaps in service to assist Copeland 
residents develop skills and access work 
opportunities.

Q4 Annual review. -  

Key Deliverable 14 – 
Domestic Abuse Prevention Project

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 1 additional unit into use & deliver outreach services from 
new women’s center.

Additional unit now secured, 
totalling three units and Womens 
Centre opened in July 2019

Q2 Improve networking and partnership holistic approach 
through women’s center

-  

Q3 Funding bid from any external resources available -  

Tackle domestic abuse & other exploitations through 
our domestic abuse project aimed at victims and 
residents at risk.
 
Domestic Abuse Project
Bid for and secure funding to continue project 
delivery. Supporting residents experiencing or at risk 
of Domestic Abuse. Q4 Extend Project formally – dependent on above -  

Key Deliverable 15-
Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

To be a strong partner in the Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Forum and demonstrate our essential role 

Q1 Agreed plan for Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum in 
response to Cumbria Public Health Strategy

CBC and the Copeland HWB Forum 
have fully engaged in the strategy 

P
age 58



Appendix A

5

Key Deliverable 15-
Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

and implementation action plan.  
The Copeland actions and priorities 
have been integrated into the draft 
implementation plan.

Q2 Develop and initiate priority projects against three priority 
themes

-  

Q3 Project monitoring -  

in supporting the Health and Wellbeing of our 
residents.
Copeland Health and Wellbeing Priorities
Delivering Copeland priorities under the Cumbria 
Public Health Strategy.
Key Projects

• Healthy Weight Project 

• Social Prescribing Project 

• Healthy Towns And Places Project 
Q4 Annual review of projects. -  

Key Deliverables 16 –
Strategic Housing Offer

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Implementation of the Housing Strategy Action Plan. Housing Strategy approved by Full 
Council and action plan still with 
Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities for final approval

Q2 Monitoring of the Housing Strategy Action Plan. -  

Q3 Review of the Housing Strategy Action Plan. -  

Ensure that our housing offer meets the need of 
residents
Extra Care (Housing Proposals)
Better Care Fund
Planning Permission 
Local Plan and KPIs
DFGs

Q4 Review of Housing needs and DFG provision. 
Quarterly monitoring of Strategic Planning and 

-  

Key Deliverable 20 - Bereavement Services 
Expansion Programme

Quarter Milestone Outcome Note Progress of 
Key 

Deliverable

Q1 Planning permission for refurbishment of Crematorium 
and Installation of second cremator commenced.

Planning application submitted - 
decision due 24/07/2019.
Installation of second cremator 
completed in July 2019.

Q2 Installation of second cremator completed. 
Whitehaven Cemetery expansion plans for decision.

-

To deliver the investment and development of our 
Bereavement Services.
 
Bereavement Services Expansion Programme
Refurbishment of the Crematorium, installation of 
second cremator and expansion of Whitehaven 
Cemetery

Q4 Refurbishment of Crematorium completed -

P
age 59



Appendix A

6

P
age 60



Appendix B

1

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1

Target for 
Q1

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q1

Was the 
target for 
Q1 met?

How does this compare to 
Q1 of 2018/19

Analysis and notes from 
Managers

ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI

KPI 1.1  Percentage of Council Tax collected

38.39% 32.66% 5.73% 38.39% collected in Q1 2019/20 
compared to

29.01% in Q1 2018/19

95%

KPI 1.2  Number empty homes <6months 
brought back into use

23 12.5 10.5 23 homes in Q1 2019/20 
compared to

18 in Q1 2018/19

50 homes

KPI 1.3  Number of new homes approved

18 75 -57 18 homes in Q1 2019/20 
compared to

67 in Q1 2018/19

300 homes

KPI 1.4  Number of new homes built

43 75 -32 43 homes in Q1 2019/20 
compared to

24 in Q1 2018/19

300 homes

KPI 1.5 Number of AFFORDABLE homes 
BUILT 0 11.25 -11.25

54 affordable homes were 
approved in 2018/19 and we 
expect to see those built over the 
next couple of years.

45 homes

KPI 1.6  Number of larger family and 
aspirational homes built 24 11.25 12.75 24 in Q1 2019/20 compared to

10 in Q1 2018/19
45 homes

KPI 1.7 External funding for Economic 
Development Secured £1059499.00 £125000.00 £934499.00

Coastal Communities Fund grant 
offer secured against SL match 
reported in Q4 2018/19

£500000.00

KPI 2.1 Additional income generated through 
Commercial activity

Target is annual.  
To be reported in Q4. £139000.00

KPI 3.1  Percentage of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected 77.62% 24.87% 52.75%

77.62% collected in Q1 2019/20 
98.7%

Key Performance Indicators report for Quarter 1 of 2019/20

P
age 61



Appendix B

2

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1

Target for 
Q1

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q1

Was the 
target for 
Q1 met?

How does this compare to 
Q1 of 2018/19

Analysis and notes from 
Managers

ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI

compared to
76.65% in Q1 2018/19

KPI 3.2 Local people supported with 
employability and skills 12 15 -3 New KPI for Q1 19/20 Target expected to be met by Q4 65 people

KPI 3.5 a_ Speed of processing - new HB 
claims

10.16 18 -7.84 Average 10.16 days to process in 
Q1 2019/20 compared to 31.04 

days in Q1 2018/19

18 days

KPI 3.5 b_ Speed of processing - new CTR 
claims

23.2 18 5.2 Average 23.2 days to process in Q1 
2019/20 compared to 37.72 days 

in Q1 2018/19

There has been a period of catch 
up following year end and we still 
had a significant number of UCDS 
(Universal Credit) notifications to 
process.  These are nearly up to 
date so anticipate processing 
times reducing.

18 days

KPI 3.6 a_ Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for HB claims

6.63 10 -3.37 Average 6.63 days to process in Q1 
2019/20 compared to 17.02 days 

in Q1 2018/19

10 days

KPI 3.6 b_ Speed of processing - changes of 
circumstances for CTR claims

5.5 10 -4.5 Average 5.5 days to process in Q1 
2019/20 compared to 18.32 days 

in Q1 2018/19

10 days

KPI 3.8 Homeless relief cases
92% 90% 2% 92.5% also achieved in Q1 

2018/19
90%

KPI 3.9 Domestic Abuse Project 100% 100% 0% 100% also achieved in Q1 
2018/19 100%

KPI 4.1 Percentage of complaints resolved at 
stage one 96.00% 90.00% 6.00% 96% also achieved in Q1 2018/19 90%

KPI 4.2 Percentage of Freedom of information 
requests resolved within timescale 89.84% 90.00% -.16% 89.84% resolved in timeframe in 

Q1 2019/20 compared to 84% in 

128 FOIs opened and closed in 
Q1.  Of these 115 were resolved 
within 20 day timeframe 

90%

P
age 62



Appendix B

3

Key Performance Indicator Value at 
end of Q1

Target for 
Q1

Value Vs 
Target at 
end of Q1

Was the 
target for 
Q1 met?

How does this compare to 
Q1 of 2018/19

Analysis and notes from 
Managers

ANNUAL 
target for 
this KPI

Q1 2018/19 (89.84%)  

KPI 4.3 a_ Percentage of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling and composting  
(NI192) 43.74% 43.00% .74% 43.74% in Q1 2019/20 compared 

to
42.76% in Q1 2018/19

43.74% total is based on actual 
data  43%

KPI 4.3 b_ Percentage reduction in residual 
household waste

0.24% 2% -1.76% 0.24%% in Q1 2019/20 compared 
to

6.31% in Q1 2018/19

There was a significant reduction 
in residual household waste in 
2018/19 due largely to the 
introduction of the new recycling 
service. The amount of waste 
collected for disposal has since 
levelled out and a further 
reduction has been seen in 
Quarter 1.  This was anticipated 
after the initial step change of 
last year. 
The communications campaign to 
encourage waste reduction and 
recycling continues and we 
expect continued improvement of 
this indicator.

5%

KPI 4.4b Percentage CTAX collected using 
DDeb payment method 63.2% 60% 3.2% 63.2% collected in Q1 2019/20 

compared to 62% in Q1 2018/19 
60%

KPI 5.1 Percentage of 'major' planning 
applications determined within 13 weeks 100.00% 65.00% 35.00%

100% also achieved in Q1 2018/19
65%

KPI 5.2 Percentage of planning 'minor' 
planning applications determined within 8 
weeks

97.22% 80.00% 17.22%
97% also achieved in Q1 2018/19

80%

KPI 5.3 Percentage of 'other' applications 
determined within 8 weeks 98.08% 80.00% 18.08% 98% in Q1 2019/20 compared to 

94% in Q1 2018/19
80%

KPI 5.4 Percentage of planning appeals 
dismissed 100.00% 80.00% 20.00% New KPI for 2019/20 70%

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  Item no. 

 
STRATEGIC ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Cllr David Moore 
LEAD OFFICER:               Pat Graham, Chief Executive,  
REPORT AUTHOR:                     Barbara Vernon, Property & Estates Manager 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE? 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
It is recommended that Executive review the attached Strategic Asset Management Plan 
to allow it to be referred to Full Council in with the recommendation that it is adopted. 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Council holds a large portfolio of land assets and a number of buildings across 
the Borough.  Through proactive management, partnership working, investment and 
diversification of its asset base the Council can support its ambition to become a 
commercially focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality services.   
 
The Council’s Strategic Asset Management plan was last updated in October 2013.  To 
ensure strategic alignment to the Council’s Corporate Strategy, Commercialism and 
other adopted policies, the Strategic Asset Management Plan has been updated and will 
be reviewed on an annual basis going forward.   
 
The purpose of the Asset Management Plan is to implement a policy that supports and 
informs the continual review of our asset base to determine its suitability to support the 
Council’s vision, mission, and ambitions for the Borough.  
 
The Strategic Asset Management Plan sets out the Council’s policy for the contribution 
made by its land and property assets towards the requirement to provide a revenue 
stream directly into the Council and to deliver the Council’s ambitions and strategic 
outcomes as outlined in the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2016-2020. 
 
2. DETAILS 
The Asset Management plan was last updated in October 2013.  To ensure strategic 
alignment to the Council’s Corporate Strategy, Commercialism and other adopted 
policies, the Strategic Asset Management Plan has been updated and will be reviewed 
on an annual basis going forward.   
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



  Item no. 

The Asset Management Plan has been developed to align with legislation and the 
Council’s adopted strategies and policies, together with regional and national strategies 
where they could also have an impact, to ensure a cohesive and joined-up approach to 
the management of its estate.   
 
3. CONCLUSION 
Executive are asked to review the attached strategic Asset Management Plan to allow it 
to be referred to Executive and Full Council for adoption. 
 
4.      STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

The Asset Management Plan has been approved by CLT, and as such agreed by 
S151 and the Monitoring Officer.  Additional comments may be tabled at the 
meeting 

 
5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 Property Services and support services staff 
 
5.       HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS AND RISKS BE MANAGED? 

All decisions and transactions will be governed by Contract Standing Orders and 
current Governance arrangements 

  
6.        WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM  THIS REPORT? 
 N/A 
 
 
List of Appendices   
Appendix A – Asset Register 
 

Page 66



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

STRATEGIC ASSET 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  
2019-20 to 2023-24 

 
  

 
Version: Draft V1.1 
Policy Date: July 2019 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 2 of 16 

2 
 

Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2024 

Version 1.1 

Author Barbara Vernon 

Filename  

Owner Barbara Vernon 

Subject  

Protective Marking  

Review Date 23/7/19 

 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

2011-2015 
Asset 
Management 
Strategy 

 
July 2019 

 
Barbara 
Vernon 

Complete re-writing of the Strategy to 
ensure it is up to date, relevant and 
achievable 

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Overview & Scrutiny  

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Executive  

 Full Council  

 

Document Distribution 
 
This plan is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council and 
placed on the Council’s Intranet Site.  
 

Contributors 
 

Corporate Leadership Team  

Mayor’s Office  

Property Services  

Legal Services  

Parks & Open Spaces  

Regeneration team  

Spatial Planning Team  

Nuclear Development  

Page 68



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 3 of 16 

3 
Contents         Page 

1 Purpose … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …     4 

2 Introduction  … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    4 

3 The Borough of Copeland   … … … … … … … … … … … … …    5 

4 The Council    … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    6 

5 The Council’s Estate … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    6  

6 Private Finance Initiative … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    7 

7 Where we want to be  … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    9 

8 How we will get there  … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    10 

8.1 Commercialisation, investment and growth 

8.2 Minimising the cost of our assets 

8.3 Corporate landlord model 

8.4 Accommodation review 

8.5  Working with partners 

8.6 One Public Estate – Cumbria wide funding bid 

8.7 Supporting regeneration and economic  

development 

8.8  Supporting the community 

8.9 Rationalisation and continual review 

9 Conclusion   … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … … …    16 

10 APPENDIX A – our asset base   … … … … … … … … … … … …    17  
 

Page 69



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 4 of 16 

4 
1. Purpose 
This Asset Management Plan sets out the Council’s policy for the contribution made by its land 
and property assets towards the requirement to provide a revenue stream directly into the 
council and to deliver the Council’s ambitions and strategic outcomes as outlined in the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy 2016-2020. 
 
The purpose of this Asset Management Plan is to implement a policy that supports and informs 
the continual review of our asset base to determine its suitability to support the Council’s 
vision, mission, and ambitions for the Borough.  
 
With the uncertainty of Brexit, the Asset Management Plan will present a platform to assist in 
strategic decisions to support the Council’s objectives, whilst being flexible in its approach to 
allow out of the box thinking to support the changing climate. 
 
This Asset Management Plan will undergo an annual review to ensure it remains current and 
adapts to meet the Council’s changing needs and priorities. 
 

2. Introduction 
A large amount of legislation affects property, in the fields of both estates and facilities 
management; The Law of Property Act 1925, The Landlord & Tenant Act 1954, The Housing 
and Regeneration Bill, The Climate Change Bill, the Localism Act, the Health & Safety at Work 
Act covering fire safety and the control of asbestos and legionella, and Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards to name but a few. 
 
This Asset Management Plan has been developed to align with legislation and the Council’s 
adopted strategies and policies, together with regional and national strategies where they 
could also have an impact, to ensure a cohesive and joined-up approach to the management of 
its estate.   
 
The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 ‘Copeland 2020’ sets out the Council’s vision - to 
be a commercially focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality services.  
Our Mission is to make Copeland a better place to live work and visit.   The Strategy’s main 
ambitions focus on; 

- Town Centre Regeneration – For our towns, villages and streets to reflect the 
prosperity of the area 

- Commercialisation – Grow the commercial activity of the Council to benefit the 
people of Copeland, ensuring the wealth generated remains in Copeland and 
support a sustainable Council 

- Employment, skills and wellbeing – Attract businesses and professionals to 
Copeland and retain our talented young people.  Work with partners to support the 
most vulnerable. 

- Strengthening the way we operate – Continually review services provided to 
ensure they meet the needs of Copeland and ensure they are efficient and 
effective.  Maximise opportunities for growth. 

 

Page 70



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 5 of 16 

5 
Although the Asset Management Plan has Council owned land and property at its core, the 
Council is committed to working in partnership across the public, private and voluntary sectors, 
wherever possible, not only to deliver efficiencies but also to deliver continuous service 
improvement and support the Copeland economy and regeneration within the borough.  This 
plan will underpin and support that work into the future.   The plan is also cognisant to the 
changes in local authority financing from 2020 towards business rates retention and hence the 
opportunity to facilitate and support growth is key to the Council’s success. 
 

3. The Borough of Copeland 
Copeland’s economy is heavily influenced by its unique geographical characteristics.  Isolated 
by UK standards, two thirds of the Borough are situated in the Lake District National Park with 
Copeland providing the only coastal frontage and the starting points for the C2C cycleway and 
Coast to Coast walking route.   
 
The unique geography of Copeland has also led to its importance for the nuclear industry being 
home to Sellafield nuclear reprocessing facility which supports almost 55% of all jobs in 
Copeland.  With over 70 years of involvement with the Nuclear Industry, the borough is the 
host community for the Nuclear Decommissioning Agency (NDA), National Low Level Waste 
Repository, Central laboratory of the National Nuclear Laboratory, various university-led 
training facilities and the Centre of Nuclear Excellence.  
 
West Cumbria Mining Ltd (WCM), a private company whose head offices is in Sussex, has 
established a site office at Haig in Whitehaven, and are looking to provide high quality 
metallurgical coal to the steel industry home and oversees.  Having been granted planning 
consent in March 2019 and a planned operational lifespan of a minimum of 40 years, 
processing up to 3.1 million tonnes of coal per year WCM, anticipates the creation of circa. 500 
jobs with the ambition to fill circa. 80% of those vacancies by employing people from the local 
area.  Site preparation is underway with the facility expected to become fully functional by Q3 
2021. 
 
Copeland has a booming tourism economy, with Wild Ennerdale, Whitehaven’s Georgian town 
(the birthplace of George Washington’s grandmother and home to the Council’s Beacon 
Museum) the Roman remains at Ravenglass, Muncaster Castle and a variety of other high 
profile attractions.  Visitors to Copeland have increased by over 20% in the last five years.  3.62 
million tourists flocked to Copeland in 2017 alone, a 4.6% increase over 2016.  Figures show 
£175.9 million was generated within the local economy through visitor and tourism business 
expenditure and the expenditure and activity of visitors to Copeland supported 2,320 full time 
equivalent jobs. These features offer unique tourism opportunities for the Council who can 
utilise its Estate positively to invest in and benefit from this market. 
 
The Council owns a large stretch of coastline and has recently supported an outline business 
case for funding to make improvements to the Cumbria coastal rail line, submitted to the 
Department of Transport by Cumbria LEP.  The business case supports a request for £9m of 
funding to undertake a detailed study to develop and fully cost a series of improvements to 
upgrade the Cumbrian coast line to facilitate emerging projects such as WCM and Sellafield’s 3 
for 2 project, which encourages the use of alternative transport by workers to access the 
Sellafield site.  It is anticipated that a decision on funding will be made in Summer of 2019. 

Page 71



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 6 of 16 

6 
 
Additionally, the Council is part of the Colourful Coast Whitehaven to St Bees partnership 
project, which incorporates Council property such as Saltom Pit, designated a scheduled 
Ancient Monument, together with stretches of coastline in the Council’s ownership housing 
part of Wainwright’s Coast to Coast walk and Heritage Coast.  Other partners include Natural 
England, Cumbria County Council, the Land Trust, RSPB and the Cumbria Wildlife Trust. 
 
Mainly regional and local developers and investors serve Copeland’s property market. The 
Council has ownership of a considerable land portfolio and this offers significant potential 
opportunities for public-private sector partnerships to stimulate development. 
 
The economic climate, both at a national and local level, will always be changing although 
property rentals and values in Copeland, although relatively low, have been more stable and 
consistent than the national scene for several decades. This stability does negate the search for 
quick-wins and so strength is focussed on long-term stability and developments. Whilst many 
other public and private sector organisations nationally have suffered reductions in capital and 
rental values to their estates over recent years, the impact on the Council has been very 
limited, having a stable but limited portfolio. 
 
Recent years have seen a considerable squeeze on public sector spending as Government 
policy has focussed on cutting national debt and coping with reductions in consumer spending. 
There are no current signs this is going to change, and the Asset Management Plan aligns to 
policies that allow Copeland Borough Council to deliver economic growth with less resources.   
Exploitation of the Estate to back-fill some of this loss is reflected in this Plan. 
 
The development of the Council’s Economic Vision is underway with an anticipated completion 
date of October 2019.  The Economic Vision will replace the Council’s Growth Strategy, 
commissioned in 2016, in which opportunities for inward investment and local growth were 
heavily influenced by the UK Energy Policy and the Moorside Project, which has now stalled.  
The Economic Vision document will demonstrate Copeland’s economic current and potential 
contribution to the wider Cumbrian and UK economies and delivery of the Cumbria Local 
Industry Strategy and linked local deals.  The Vision will support the delivery of the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy and Strategic Outcomes; 

- For our towns, villages and streets to reflect the prosperity of the area. 
- Attract businesses and professionals to Copeland and retain our talented young 

people 
- Maximise our opportunities for growth 

 

4. The Council 
Copeland Borough Council adopted its first Strategic Asset Management Plan in 2010 when the 
Council’s net budget was £15.85m.  Since that time, the Council has faced significant 
challenges and has been through major changes.  The Council’s current net budget stands at 
just under £9m.  Since the first Strategic Asset Management Plan was published, the Council 
has; 

- Undergone a major restructure, reducing staffing by approximately 30% 
- Appointed a new Chief Executive and Corporate Leadership Team  
- Forged strong working relationships with both old and new partners  

Page 72



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 7 of 16 

7 
- Seen a reduction in the Council’s budget by almost a third  
- Implemented a new Corporate Strategy  
- Seen the strengthening of locality working and greater community empowerment  
- Adopted a stronger approach to Project Management  
- Introduced a new performance management framework 
- Implemented new policies and strategies which will allow the Council to grow 

supporting the Council’s vision to be a commercially focused organisation with a 
national reputation for high quality services 

- Ensured commercialisation is at our heart 
- Adopted an Open for Business ethos 

 
In November 2018 the Council underwent a Peer Review.  The review found the Council; 

 is regarded positively as a partner with impressive examples of collaborative working, 
 has a good understanding of local place and context of the challenges, 
 has clear aspirations and ambitions plans, 
 has a strong sense of community, 
 punches above its weight in partnerships, 
 is a pro-active partner and will take the lead, 
 is working with partners to drive regeneration, 
 has a proactive problem solving approach to partnerships which has helped get value 

for money when faced with diminishing resources. 
 
The Council will further expand and strengthen its performance and sustainability, using its 
assets and property based resources to support Copeland’s journey through Town Centre 
Regeneration, Commercialisation, growing Employment, skills and wellbeing and strengthening 
our services.   Part of this strategy is to facilitate the Council in strengthening its asset base and 
the return it receives from that investment. 
 

5. The Council’s Estate 
The Council owns assets that have a range of uses.  The current net value of the fixed assets is 
approximately £38m.  Notably the Council has a large number of relatively low value assets, 
many of which could support regeneration in the Borough offering opportunities for 
community groups, Parish/Town Councils and regeneration partners.      
 
Copeland is home to circa. 70,000 residents, and contains four main population centres, 
Whitehaven, Egremont and Cleator Moor in the North of the Borough, and Millom in the South 
with the majority of the Council’s assets located within North and Central Copeland notably in 
and around Whitehaven.   
 
The property portfolio as at 1st April 2018  

 
Classification 

No. 
of 
assets 

 
Value @ 31.3.19 

Investment (assets held for revenue or capital generation) 59 £7,803,701 

Operational (assets held to support the Council’s service 
provision – includes car parks and community centres) 

52 £29,111,000* 

Community (assets held to benefit and/or support the 186 £0 

Page 73



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 8 of 16 

8 
community such as parks, play areas, open spaces, cliffs 
and coastal areas, roadways etc.) 

Surplus assets (assets no longer held for operational or 
specifically for income or capital generation purposes) 

53 £659,904 

Assets sold subject to contract 8 £437,000 

*nb. These assets are generally valued on a replacement cost basis, and not at open market 
value. 
 

186, 52%

59, 16%

52, 15%

61, 17%

Assets by Category

Community Assets

Investment Assets

Operational Assets

Surplus Assets

 
 
A more detailed overview of the asset base can be found at Appendix A. 
 
The Council’s in-house Property & Estates Services Team manages the Council’s Estate, 
operating two distinct but invariably linked disciplines of Estates and Building & Facilities 
Management.     
 
Our Building & Facilities Team oversees the repair and maintenance of our operational 
portfolio.   
 
The Council’s Operational Assets are varied and comprise;   

- The Copeland Centre, our main administrative centre, providing some 50,789sqft of 
office accommodation, occupied under a Private Finance Initiative Agreement (PFI),  

- The Market Hall, which houses the Council’s front line Customer Services and other 
back office functions,  

- Moresby Depot, which houses the Council’s Waste Services, Parks and Open Spaces, 
Licencing and Regulatory Teams, 

- Distington Crematorium, housing the Council’s Bereavement Services, 
- The Millom Council Centre, leased in accommodation within the Millom Library 

Building, owned by Cumbria County Council, 
- Cleator Moor Bowls Centre, Whitehaven Sports Centre and Whitehaven Pool, and 

Millom Recreation Centre, our leisure facilities managed by a third party providers 
under agreement, 

- The Beacon Museum and Beacon Portal, 
- Public conveniences, let to bodies such as Town and Parish Councils, 

Page 74



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 9 of 16 

9 
- Community Centres, occupied for the benefit of the public by community groups, 
- A number of small depots used by our waste and parks services  

 
Together with commissioning contracts to ensure our operational property’s plant and building 
services are checked and serviced on a regular basis, the Building & Facilities Team 
commissions stock condition surveys on a five yearly basis to proactively inform a five-year 
programme of maintenance across our operational portfolio.   
 
The Cost of managing and maintaining the Council’s property assets currently is circa. £570,650 
per annum, whilst our outstanding maintenance @ 1ST April 2019 sits at £546,722 across the 
portfolio.   
 
In addition, the Council has responsibility for a large area of cliff and coastal access ways and 
protects the public’s safety through planned management of our cliff and coastal areas, and 
other known high risk areas.  A full detailed cliff survey was undertaken in 2010, from which a 
coastal management plan was established.  We will rebase our cliff survey in Summer of 2019 
to ensure our coastal management plan remains effective and continues to protect the public. 
 
Our Estates Team manage our investment, community and surplus assets; negotiating 
occupation agreements, collecting service charges, calculating rents, managing lease 
compliance, overseeing the Council’s property disposals and acquisitions, making rating 
appeals and undertaking valuation services for accounting and insurance purposes.    
 
The Council’s income from the use of its asset base in 2018/19 was circa. £652,000 (includes 
car parking but excludes the Copeland Centre income which is used to off-set the Council’s PFI 
costs, the Beacon and Crematorium income). 
 

6. Private Finance Initiative 
The Copeland Centre is the corporate centre for the council, housing 70 council employees.   
The building, which sits on a 6,500sqm (1.6 acre) site, provides some 4,718.5sqm (50,789sqft) 
of serviced office accommodation.     
 

The Copeland Centre, built in 2004, is one of the first PFI contracts, commencing in 2004 and 
expiring in 2029.  At the outset, the Council occupied 61.4% of the building and underlet to 
Copeland Homes 10.5%, and the DWP 28.1%, who shared the PFI costs.  Copeland Homes 
vacated in 2014 and since then, in response to austerity and similar to all local authorities, the 
Council’s own requirements have substantially shrunk which, coupled with modern working 
practices, means it now requires only c.35% of its original floor space.  
 
The Council currently off-sets the PFI costs for its accommodation through shared occupation 
of the building by way of under lettings to the DWP, part of which is sub-lets to Sellafield Ltd., 
and the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority, however there remains a significant amount of 
vacant space within the building. 
 

The building forms a key part of the Council’s wider accommodation strategy, and the Council 
is currently negotiating with its landlord with a view to terminating the PFI agreement and 
taking direct ownership of the Copeland Centre.  In addition to offering considerable savings 

Page 75



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 10 of 16 

10 
on both rental payments and facilities management costs, owning the building outright will 
unlock significant potential, strengthening the Council’s accommodation strategy whilst adding 
substantial investment potential, and town centre regeneration opportunities. 
 
The Council is committed to the future development of the asset and the enhancement this 
provides to the Council’s revenue position is a key element of its plans to deliver a sustainable 
future contributing significantly to the Council’s strategic ambitions.  
 

7. Where we want to be 
Our vision is to deliver a modern fit for purpose property portfolio that supports the delivery of 
the Councils corporate ambitions.  This vision will be carried out with public and/or private 
partners wherever possible to maximise investment, stimulate economic regeneration and 
support the needs of the people of the Copeland.  
 
As part of this we aim to reshape our asset base to enable us to focus our limited resources on 
those assets that are needed to support high quality service delivery, facilitate income 
generation and support economic growth.  This will mean that the Council owns and/or 
occupies good quality, fit for purpose premises that support the delivery of exceptional 
services.   
 
We aim to reshape the asset portfolio, so as only to own assets for one or more of the 
following reasons:  

- For income generation or capital growth 
- To facilitate regeneration and economic development, demonstrating confidence 

and leadership in the regeneration of the borough 
- To facilitate our own business operations and support effective and efficient service 

delivery 
- To support community activity and community development  

 
Through effective management of its estate the Council can support strong, effective and 
efficient service delivery whilst positively influencing customer and working environments and 
developments within the borough of Copeland and explore opportunities for supporting and 
enabling regeneration and development. 
 

8. How we will get there 
Next to people, property is the largest cost to the Council so minimising expenditure and 
maximising income, is a vital part of this Plan.  Whilst supporting partnership working, the Plan 
aligns with a number of adopted Council strategies that support the Council’s Corporate Aims 
and objectives.   
 

8.1 Commercialisation, investment and Growth  
Copeland Commercial Strategy 2016-2020 aims to consolidate the Council’s existing 
commercial activity and provide a framework, with defined objectives, for new commercial 
projects and for the delivery of future commercial activity. Commercialism forms the 
cornerstone of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-2020 and Income 

Generation Strategy.   

Page 76



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 11 of 16 

11 
 
This asset management plan supports the Council’s Commercial Strategy through the 
development and implementation of an effective charging regime for its property services 
functions when disposing of land and property, and through our fair and robust process for 
collection of occupied property related service charges, rents and fees.    
 
We will actively explore opportunities within our asset base for a more commercially focussed 
approach to asset management and utilisation, supporting future commercial projects where 
possible. 
 
Aligned to the developing Economic Vision, to support the Council’s financial viability and aid 
the diversification of the Council’s asset portfolio the acquisition of investment properties will 
be considered throughout the life of this Plan.  Each opportunity will be considered in a 
managed way with due diligence undertaken to ensure risks associated with investments are 
clear.  Investments need to be proportionate to the size of the authority and appropriately 
funded.  Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required for any particular 
investment proposal, use will be made of the expertise within partner organisations, external 
advisors and consultants that are specialists in their field and upon which we can rely. 
 
 Detailed consideration given to any potential acquisition where it would; 

- serve as a medium or long-term contributor to the Council’s revenue stream, 
providing regular and sustainable income, 

- enhance service delivery, 
- add value to and increase the efficiency of the Estate, 
- contribute to the economy and regeneration of the borough,  
- assist in the delivery of Corporate ambitions. 

 
Copeland’s Growth Strategy 2016-2020 aligns Copeland’s ambitions with economic growth, 
outlining a number of growth priorities for the Borough.  The Council has strategically located 
assets which it will utilise to support, enhance and realise the opportunities associated with all 
growth priorities. Further, the developing Economic Vision document will provide additional 
data and information that will help to highlight the potential that Copeland offers in terms of 
development and investment.  As well as a supporting local economic strength and diversity, 
the vision will focus on tourism, our two world heritage sites and the 47 million visitor 
economy, and encouraging key sectors including innovation and digital, creative and cultural, 
advanced manufacturing.   Our asset base review, investment and acquisition proposals will 
support this emerging vision.  
 
In 2017 the Council invested £1.3m to extend the Beacon building and to construct the Beacon 
Portal, a venue offering top class space for hire by businesses, the community and schools.  
Capable of accommodating up to 120 people the venue has high speed internet, visual display 
and in-house catering facilities.   The construction of the Portal adds an additional commercial 
element to the Beacon Museum, bringing in additional income supporting the aim for the 
Beacon to be fully self-sufficient by the end of 2019. 
 
£1.2m is currently being invested in Distington Crematorium with a redesign of the 
Crematorium in conjunction with the installation of a second cremator, increasing operational 

Page 77



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 12 of 16 

12 
capacity and meeting customer needs. The investment supports corporate ambitions, by 
strengthening the way we operate and allowing the service to be more commercially focussed. 
 
The Council is also supporting the refurbishment and enhancement of its leisure facilities, 
supporting both its commercial and social inclusion agendas. 
 

8.2 Minimising the cost of our Assets 
Consideration of operational, financial and physical aspects of each asset is required to ensure 
value for money is achieved in running and maintaining these assets.  Through the 
Procurement and contract management strategy we will ensure that the maintenance of our 
operational assets is cost effective and assets are well maintained, fit for purpose and support 
exceptional service delivery.  
 
A rolling five-year maintenance programme has been developed based on quinquennial 
condition surveys.  Through proactive monitoring, review and management of all maintenance 
contracts secured through the procurement process we will ensure that what is agreed, is 
actually delivered by our suppliers or partners and that value for money is achieved in all 
transactions. 
  
A review of the Council’s asset base and subsequent energy demand will be undertaken to 
ensure Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards are met in our commercially let property and to 
identify any savings that can be achieved in our operational property. 

 
8.3 Corporate Landlord Model 
The Council will aim to adopt a Corporate Landlord Model to ensure a joined up approach to 
managing and maintaining its assets and allowing service occupiers to focus on service 
delivery.    The Corporate Landlord model centralises all estate related budgets, decision 
making and activities within a central team – the Corporate Landlord.  Service departments 
become tenants of the Corporate Landlord.  This allows Property Services to effectively control 
expenditure on the maintenance, repair and development of all assets, and to achieve 
economies of scale.   
 

8.4 Accommodation Review 
Over the past five years the Council has undergone continual review, meaning it has reduced 
its original workforce by circa. 30%.  The requirement for administrative accommodation has, 
in turn, diminished considerably.  The accommodation review directly supports the Copeland 

Efficiency Plan 2016-2020.   
 
The Council currently owns and/or occupies a range of buildings for service delivery.  The 
Council has worked with public and private partners to support its accommodation strategy 
and over the past 2 years has; 
 

- Redeveloped its Market Hall building into high quality office accommodation, 
providing a Customer Service hub in the Centre of Whitehaven,  

Page 78



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 13 of 16 

13 
- Let part of its Moresby Depot to a public partner which has facilitated 

redevelopment of part of the building allowing full and effective utilisation of the 
asset, providing the Council with a vital revenue stream, 

- Developed and adopted an agile working policy, consolidating further the Council’s 
accommodation needs and freeing up good quality office accommodation that can 
be let to provide further revenue to the Council, 

- Agreed terms with a public partner to occupy additional vacant space within the 
Copeland Centre, following adaptation works to the premises, increasing the 
Council’s revenue stream, 

- Opened negotiations with its landlord and engaged the support of Government 
relating to the termination of the PFI contract with a view to owning and further 
developing the Copeland Centre. 

 
The Council will continue to work with both public and private partners to further develop its 
accommodation strategy, including the co-location of services, and aims to; 
 

1. Meet the future accommodation needs of the Council in an optimised solution, with co-

location of services, that addresses operating needs effectively, 

2. Support the accommodation needs of commercial partners, crucial to the economic 

prosperity of the entire borough, whilst providing a sustainable financial solution for 

the Council’s finances, 

3. Mitigate wasted expenditure on vacant premises and demonstrate value for money for 

the ‘public purse’. 

8.5 Working with Partners 
The Council has ownership of a considerable land portfolio and this offers opportunities for 
public-private sector partnerships to stimulate development. The Council has driven and 
enabled a number of regeneration plans and projects in the borough whose development has 
been delayed and hampered by a minimal land and asset portfolio.   
 
The Council has been working closely with partners, including the Britain’s Energy Coast (BEC) 
Nuclear Decommissioning Authority, Sellafield Ltd and the Harbour Commissioners, to obtain 
land and assets to deliver physical regeneration.  The Copeland Growth Plan, as a key delivery 
mechanism for our Corporate Strategy, requires continued investment in land and assets to 
underpin growth.  To this end the Council’s Capital Investment Plan for the duration of the 
Corporate Strategy includes a total £1m (over four years) Land and Asset Investment Fund to 
enable the Council to work with partners to secure the right land and assets to deliver physical 
development and wider regeneration across Copeland.    
 
The Council has forged a strong partnership with Whitehaven Town Council who has recently 
invested in new equipment for increased grass cutting at our Whitehaven cemeteries.  This in 
turn has led to a new dedicated cemeteries team. 
 
The Council will work with developers and partners to address issues of land supply and will 
explore opportunities/vehicles to bring housing development forward. 
 

8.6 One Public Estate – Cumbria Partnership Bid 

Page 79



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 14 of 16 

14 
The One Public Estate initiative, launched in 2013, entered its eighth round of funding with 
bids invited at the end of November 2018 and decisions on funding allocations made in 
February of 2019.  Led by Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough Council has joined with other 
public sector partners to put forward a Cumbria wide bid for funding through the One Public 
Estate Initiative.  The Cumbria bid has been successful, with £120,000 being awarded to the 
Cumbria Partnership, the funding allocated will be used to overcome financial and other 
resource barriers to allow the Council to progress scoping work relating to a potential third 
sector hub within Whitehaven Town Centre.  Such a facility will transform services, reduce 
running costs, and release surplus and under-used land for development within the borough.  
The Council is currently working with the Cumbria Partnership on a number of schemes, which 
strengthen and support its own accommodation strategy. 
 
Through the One Public Estate initiative, the sharing of property ownership information 
between Councils and other public-sector bodies is required.  The Council already has an 
effective mapping system for the borough.  This is a significant step in compliance with ‘One 
Public Estate but it will also become an immediate challenge to share this information with 
partners in adjoining areas, allowing consideration to be given to whether assets owned by any 
other public-sector organisation, as well as the Council, can be utilised efficiently on a shared 
basis to promote overall efficiencies in the Government public property portfolio. 

 
8.7 Supporting Regeneration and Economic Development 
Whitehaven South 
The Council has a large land ownership at south Whitehaven Town Centre and has 
commissioned a scoping study for the area.  This study will inform the potential for 
regeneration and reuse of under-utilised sites and buildings and the potential redevelopment 
of land.  The scoping Study will build upon the work undertaken for the Whitehaven 
Masterplan Framework and AD site Development Briefs.  Considering special and economic 
integration it will present recommendations that are informed with car parking, access and 
movement as key considerations. 
 
North Shore Scheme 
Whitehaven’s former bus station will be transformed into a multi-million-pound business hub. 
The development is led by BEC, who is jointly owned by the Council, Cumbria County Council, 
Nuclear Decommissioning Authority and Allerdale Borough Council. Sellafield Ltd have invested 
£2.6m to assist the £4.1m conversion.  Space within the development has been pre-let to a 
number of occupiers providing conference and meeting space, artisan food and drink outlets 
together with health and wellbeing facilities.  Construction is due to commence in Summer of 
2019.  Future plans include construction of a multi-storey car park, a multi-agency public 
service hub and hotel, with a total investment of around £300m. 
 
Bransty Junction Public Realm 
The Council will work collaboratively with Cumbria County Council to enable public realm and 
road improvements to Whitehaven’s main access road at Bransty.  The improvement works, 
due to commence in Summer of 2019, will incorporate some of the Council’s land in that area 
and work will support the North Shore Scheme and facilitate easier access to the Town. 
 
Revitalisation of public spaces in Egemont, Cleator Moor, Millom and Whitehaven 

Page 80



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 15 of 16 

15 
The Corporate Strategy sets out a clear ambition to regenerate our town centres, including our 
key service centres, to make Copeland a better place to live, work and visit.  This is in full 
synergy with our Copeland Growth Plan.  The Council has set out capital investment approach 
to attract further external and partner investment and to act as a match fund for any external 
grants that may be available.   The Council will use capital from the disposal of its surplus land 
assets to help fund the capital programme, together with investing in the assets it owns in key 
town centre areas to enable the revitalisation of its public spaces. 
 
In addition the Council is committed to the regeneration, revitalisation and modernisation of 
our town centres.  The Council will look for funding streams in support of these ambitions, 
utilising our assets where possible and appropriate.  This will include; 

- Working with public and private investors to repurpose, repair and renew heritage 
assets, 

- Creating hubs, workspace and housing opportunities, 
- Acquiring land and demolishing buildings to develop creative leisure spaces, 

ensuring a flow between the retail area and the harbour 
- Modernising the high street and expanding the ‘streetscapes’ initiative, 
- Developing creative transport solutions and parking provision 
- Initiating a digital revolution by developing digital experiences in leisure, tourism 

and retail 
 

8.8 Supporting the Community 
Community Asset Transfer 
The Council’s Community Asset Transfer Policy has been updated and was adopted in January 
2019.  The Council has a range of assets (buildings and land) which the Council considers 
suitable for disposal under Community Asset Transfer, which allows disposal of the asset to 
take place at less than best value to a qualifying community based organisation or group (such 
as a charity of Community Interest Company) for local social, economic or environmental 
benefits.  Some benefits of Asset transfer; 

- Gives community organisations more security and sustainability 

- Enables people to protect important assets in their communities such as heritage 
buildings or open spaces 

- Keeps money in the local economy through enterprise and locally owned assets 

- Promotes ‘community anchor organisations’ which provide all kinds of services 

- Supports health, wellbeing, volunteering and education 

- Can unlock sources of funding not available to the Council 
- Reduces the cost to the Council of managing under-used facilities 

- Builds stronger relationships with the community 

 
For any transfer, the Council would require a proposal from the group seeking the transfer 
outlining the community benefits, development plans and business case, covering financial 
viability, proposed utilisation, benefits to the organisation and community and evidence of 
wider support.   A key consideration will be the sustainability of the organisation and its 
capacity to manage and develop the asset into the future.  
 

8.9 Rationalisation and continual review 

Page 81



Strategic Asset Management Plan V1.1 

Page 16 of 16 

16 
We will make our investment properties work harder for us by ensuring rental income is 
reviewed when leasing arrangements allow, and ensuring best value is achieved when leases 
are renewed or new leases are granted.   
 
The Council will usually dispose of assets that it does not require, by open market sale or 
auction, on a freehold or leasehold basis, as most appropriate to meet best value criteria. 
 
Annual targets for disposal capital receipts has been set within the Medium Term Financial 
Plan through to 2020.  These targets are continually reviewed to reflect reasonable 
expectations created by a continually changing property market.  
 
All Council assets shall be continually reviewed and property identified as surplus will be; 

- sold at market value to generate capital which can be used to acquire new assets, to 
repay debt, or fund service transformation projects, or 

- appropriated to deliver social, economic or environmental benefits via the Council’s 
Community Asset Transfer Policy. 

- Redeveloped to realise a sustainable revenue stream or enhanced capital receipt 
 
It is important to note that a disposal at less than ‘best value’ may require Secretary of State 
approval should the value of the asset breach £200,000.   Caution needs to be exercised at all 
times around the sale or lease of property assets and any transaction will be signed off by a 
qualified Registered Valuer to meet financial regulation requirements. 
 

9. Conclusion 
Copeland Borough Council faces unique challenges, which also present significant 
opportunities for the Council.  The Council holds a large portfolio of land assets and a number 
of buildings across the Borough.  Through the proactive management, partnership working, 
investment and diversification of its asset base the Council can support its ambition to become 
a commercially focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality services.  Our 
Mission is to make Copeland a better place to live work and visit.    
 
 
 

  

Page 82



APPENDIX A

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL ASSET REGISTER

Asset Category Asset Type Asset Title Asset Location Tenure Asset Description/Notes

Community Assets Allotments Bowthorn Cleator Moor F-H various tenants

Allotments Jacktrees Road Cleator Moor F-H various tenants

Allotments Brisco Mount allotments Egremont F-H (L-O) leased to Egremont Town Council

Allotments Sandholes Allotments Egremont F-H (L-O) leased to Egremont Town Council

Allotment Wyndham Terrace Egremont F-H (L-O) Leased to Mr Southward

Allotments Brewery Brow Parton F-H (L-O) various tenants

Allotment Adj 3 Station Cottages Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to Mrs Hodgson

Allotments Cartgate  Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Allotments Crow Park  Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Amenity land Bankend View Bigrigg F-H

Amenity land Rear Kiln Brow Cleator  F-H includes recyling

Amenity land Amenity land Cleator Moor FH includes cycleway

Amenity land Old railway line Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land Crossfield Road Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land Jacktrees Road   Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land Fletcher St/High Street Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land Montreal/High Street Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land rear Birks Road Cleator Moor F-H former gas works site

Amenity land various parcels at Dawson Street Cleator Moor F-H

Amenity land adj Distington Bypass Distington F-H

Amenity land Adj 71 North Road Egremont F-H

Amenity land Adj Beck Green Egremont F-H

Amenity land Adj Egremont Bypass Egremont F-H

Amenity land Adj Falcon Club Egremont F-H

Amenity land Adj Limes/Willows, Orgill Egremont F-H

Amenity land Baybarrow Road Egremont F-H

Amenity land Beck Side/old bridge Egremont F-H

Amenity land Beckside Egremont F-H

Amenity land Chapel Street Egremont F-H

Amenity land Gypsy Common Egremont F-H

P
age 83



Amenity land Lamb Lane Egremont F-H

Amenity land North of Chapel Street Egremont F-H

Amenity land Old Bridge/South Street Egremont F-H

Amenity land Rear 67-71 North Road Egremont F-H Former station yard

Amenity land rear Market Street Egremont F-H mosaic area

Amenity land Off St Bridget's Lane Egremont F-H

Amenity land Park Street Frizington F-H

Amenity land surrounding Griffin Close Surgery Frizington F-H

Amenity land Gosforth Road Gosforth F-H

Amenity land Cayton Street Haverigg F-H

Amenity land Fromer BMX track Lowca FH

Amenity land Lowca Lowca F-H Adj Blomfield Nurseries

Amenity land Lowca Road Lowca F-H

Amenity land Old ironworks area Lowca F-H

Amenity land Old railway line Lowca F-H

Amenity land Adj Leyfield Clsoe Millom F-H

Amenity land Devonshire Road Millom F-H

Amenity land East of Palmers Lane Millom F-H

Amenity land Hodgson Terrace Millom F-H

Amenity land Mill Park Millom F-H

Amenity land Rear Holborn Hill Millom F-H access agreements

Amenity land Rottington Cottages Millom F-H

Amenity land Triangel corner gardens Millom F-H

Amenity land varoius small parcels School Brow Moresby F-H

Amenity land Brewery Brow Parton F-H

Amenity land Grass Knoll Parton F-H

Amenity land Square at Parton Parton F-H

Amenity land Adj telephone exchange Seascale F-H

Amenity land Santon Way - BMX and play area Seascale F-H

Amenity land Seascale foreshore Seascale F-H

Amenity land Entrance to Silecroft Foreshore silecroft

amenity land The Green Wasdale F-H used as an informal car park

Amenity land Adj Beck Bottom Whitehaven F-H

P
age 84



Amenity land Adj Bethel House Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Adj Kirkstone Road Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Adj Kirkstone Road/Yewbarrow Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land adj Pillar Road Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land adj Richmond pub x 2 whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Adj South View Road, Bransty Whitehaven F-H

amenity land Aikbank Road Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Cartgate and overend Whitehaven F-H includes Kie Park

Amenity land Cleator Moor Road Whitehaven F-H adj Pool

Amenity land Coronation Drive Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land former garage site Park Drive, Midgey Whitehaven F-H 

amenity land former 37/39 Newlands Ave Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land former railway land, Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Greenmarket incl gazebo/bandstand Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land harbour view, south shore Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Land Restoration Trust

Amenity land Kirkstone road  Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

Amenity land land at Haig Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Meadow Road/Low Road Whitehaven F-H inc flood alleviation area

Amenity land Monkwray Brow Whitehaven F-H

Infrastructure Mount Pleasant and Bardy Well Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land North Shore Whitehaven F-H land adj Tesco, mound and roads

amenity land Open space adj Richmond Hill Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Overend Whitehaven F-H

amenity land Pondfield Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Richmond Hill Road Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Rear Basket Road, Kells Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land rear Tomlin Avenue Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Rutland Avenue Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Snebro Ghyll Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Valley Park Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land various small parcels Calder Ave Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land various small parcels Esk Ave Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land various small parcels Whinlatter Road Whitehaven F-H

P
age 85



Amenity land Wastwater Road Whitehaven F-H   

Amenity land White Park Whitehaven F-H

Amenity land Woodhouse Road - former play area and land Whitehaven F-H

Beach Reclaimed Breakwater Millom F-H

Beach St Bees beach, to low water mark St Bees F-H

Beach North Shore Whitehaven F-H

Cemetery St Michaels Arlecdon F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery Beckermet Cemetery extension Beckermet F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery Kirk Mission Beckermet F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery St Johns the Baptist Beckermet F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery St Leonards Cleator Moor F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery St Mary & St Michaels Egremont F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery Thornhill Cemetery Egremont F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery St Paul's Frizington F-H closed churchyard

Cemetery Hallthwaites Cemetery Millom F-H closed churchyard

cemetery Millom Cemetery and Extension Millom F-H

Cemetery St Anne's Millom F-H

Cemetery Nether Wasdale Cemetery Wasdale F-H

Cemetery Hensingham Whitehaven F-H

Cemetery Low Road cemetery Whitehaven F-H

Cemetery St James Cemetery Whitehaven F-H closed churchyard

Coastal land Cliffs at Lowca Lowca F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at Parton Parton F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at St Bees St Bees F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at Bransty Whitehaven F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at Saltom Whitehaven F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at North Shore Whitehaven F-H

Coastal land Cliffs at South Beach Whitehaven F-H

Common Ladyhall Common and marsh Beckermet F-H

Heritage Candlestick Chimney Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Land Restoration Trust

Heritage Old Fort and Lime Kiln Whitehaven F-H

Heritage Saltom Pit Whitehaven F-H

Infrastructure Dawson Street - estate roads Cleator Moor F-H

P
age 86



Infrastructure Paths/verges Churchill Drive Moresby F-H

Infrastructure Adj North Road A595 Egremont F-H

Infrastructure Roads adj Beck Green car park Egremont F-H

Infrastructure St Bees boat slipway St Bees F-H

infrastructure Civic quarter Whitehaven F-H

Infrastructure James Street public paved area Whitehaven F-H

Infrastructure North Shore Promenade Whitehaven F-H

Infrastructure South Beach Whitehaven F-H

Leisure Lowca land Lowca F-H (L-O)

leased to Lowca ARLFC for football 

club

Leisure Lifeboat Sation St Bees F-H

Market Square Cleator Moor Market Square Cleator Moor F-H incldues free car parking

Nature Reserve SSSI land Millom F-H

Parks & Gardens Ennerdale Road Park Cleator Moor F-H corner Ennerdale Road/William Morris

Parks & Gardens Hope Street gardens Millom F-H

Parks & Gardens Castle Park, inc play area and bandstand Whitehaven F-H

Parks & Gardens Trinity Gardens Whitehaven F-H

Play area Cragg Road Play area Cleator Moor F-H (L-O) Leased to Cleator Moor Town Council

Play area Jacktrees road play area Cleator Moor F-H

Play area Church Road Distington F-H (L-O) Leased to Distington Parish Council

Play area Baybarrow play area Egremont FH

Play area East Road Egremont F-H

Play area Ling Road Egremont F-H

Play area Southey Avenue Egremont F-H

Play area Lowca play area Lowca F-H

Play area Palladium gardens Millom F-H

Play area Scalegill Road Moor Row L-H Leased from Cumbria County Council

Play area Churchill Drive play area Moresby F-H

Play area Pica play area Pica F-H

Play area St Bees Play area and amenity land St Bees F-H (L-O) leased to St Bees Parish Council

Play area Bleach Green play area Whitehaven FH

P
age 87



Play area Kells Whitehaven F-H

Play area Newlands Avenue play area Whitehaven F-H

Play area Play area/amenity land, High Street Whitehaven F-H

Play area Rosebank Whitehaven F-H

Play area Whitegate play area Whitehaven F-H

Quarry Ringstone Quarry Egremont F-H

Recreation GroundsKing Georges Fields Cleator Moor F-H

Recreation Groundsfootball fields Orgill Egremont F-H 

Recreation GroundsPiggery Fields - inc. flood warning kiosk Egremont F-H (L-O) let to NRA

Recreation GroundsBransty football pitch Whitehaven F-H

Recreation GroundsFootball pitch - Parton AFC Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to Parton AFC

Recreation GroundsRear Basket Road, Kells Whitehaven F-H

Recreation GroundsGreenbank sports field and car park Whitehaven F-H

Recreation GroundsKells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to Kells ARLFC

Recreation GroundsMirehouse and St Benedicts pitches Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

Skatepark Piggery Fields Egremont F-H

woodland Leconfield woodland Cleator Moor F-H

woodland Distington woodland Distington F-H

woodland Lowca woodland Lowca F-H

woodland Bransty woodlands Whitehaven FH

woodland Castle Park Whitehaven FH (L-O) leased to Woodland Trust

woodland Crow Park woodland Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Woodland Trust

Woodland Jerhicho plantation Whitehaven F-H

woodland The Brows woodland Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Woodland Trust

woodlands Midgey Ghyll and woodlands Whitehaven F-H

woodlands off Low Road Whitehaven F-H

woodlands Wheelbarrow Brow woodlands Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Woodland Trust

Investment building Former Cleator Moor area offices Cleator Moor F-H (L-O) leased to various tenants

building Frizington Doctor's Surgery Frizington F-H (L-O) leased to Drs

building Frizington care in the community Frizington F-H (L-O) leased to Walsingham Homes

building Units 2, 2A & 3 King Street Millom F-H (L-O) leased to various tenants

building Civic Hall and public realm land Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to various tenants

building Former betting shop and surrounding land Whitehaven F-H

P
age 88



building Howgill Street Whitehaven F-H

building Unit 21 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Tuke & Fisher

building Unit 25 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Mr Beeley

building Unit 26 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Furness Childcare

building Unit 29 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to TMS

building Wellington Lodge Whitehaven F-H

Garage plot site Brisco Mount Egremont F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Bransty Toll Bar and surrounding land Whitehaven F-H

Garage plot site Fairview, Bransty and former play area Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Kirkstone Road and land surrounding Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

Garage plot site Park View Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Richmond Hill Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site South View Road, Bransty and surrounding land Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

Garage plot site Wellington Row and adjacent land Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Woodhouse Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

grazing plot Plot 28 Griffin Close Frizington F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 30 Lowca Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 31 Foundry Road Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 33 St Bees Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 38 Lowca Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 39 Lowca Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot plot 40 Lowca Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot plot 51 Lowca Lowca F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 25 Moresby Moresby F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 41 Seven Fields, Bransty Whitehaven F-H (L-O) let on agricultural tenancy

land Bankend View, Bigrigg Bigrigg F-H

land Distington Main Street car park Distington F-H Free car park

land Adj Elms and Limes, Orgill Egremont F-H

land Bowling Green and land adjacent, Howbank Road Egremont F-H (L-O) Leased to Egremont Town Council

land Chapel Street car park Egremont F-H includes former public conveniences

land Adj Indutrial Units, King St Millom F-H

land adj Emmaus House Moresby F-H

land former Plot 22, 23 and 24 Moresby Parks Moresby F-H

P
age 89



land Adj Greenbank CC Whitehaven F-H

land Adj Pool Whitehaven F-H

land

Coach Road, former garage site, railway goods yard 

etc. Whitehaven F-H

land former Greenbank Garage Site Whitehaven F-H

land Former Skate Park Whitehaven F-H

land Monkwray Brow Whitehaven F-H adj Yeowarts

land Overend adj Athletics Stadium Whitehaven F-H Part leased to Athletics Stadium

land Preston Street Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Let for pet store

land Scouts & Guides and TA land and huts Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Scouts and Guides & TA

land The Ginns area (inc car park and 2 Steel Houses) Whitehaven F-H

land Units 19 & 20 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Garden Centre

land Unit 23 & 24 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Focus Scaffolding

land Unit 27 & 28 Meadow Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to  Hewdens 

land Wellington Row Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to Mrs Underwood

land whinlatter Road Whitehaven

land Yottenfews Yottenfews F-H (L-O) leased to Morgan Sindall

land Yottenfews former grazing site Yottenfews F-H

land land at Aldby Street Cleator Moor F-H

land Strand Street Whitehaven F-H (L-O) let for Barclays bank

land Wastwater Road - land at attenuation pond Whitehaven F-H

Operational car park Church Street car park Cleator  F-H Free car park 

car park Kiln Brow, off Main St Cleator F-H Free car park - houses recycling facility

car park Cleator Moor Market Street Cleator Moor F-H Free car park

car park Cleator Moor square Cleator Moor F-H Free car park

car park Jacktrees Road Cleator Moor F-H Free car park

car park Keekle Cleator Moor F-H Free car park

car park Beck Green car park Egremont F-H P&D car park

car park Moorhead eskdale F-H Free car park

car park Smithy Brow eskdale F-H Free car park

car park Main Street, Gosforth Gosforth F-H P&D car park

car park Lancashire Road Millom F-H Free car park

P
age 90



car park Lord Street Millom F-H Free car park

car park Main Street, Parton - inc reycycling area Parton F-H Free car park

car park Pica Pica F-H Free car park

car park St Bees beach St Bees F-H P&D car park

car park Beacon car park Whitehaven F-H P&D car park

car park Castle Meadows Whitehaven L-H Leased from Cumbria County Council

car park Church Street car park Whitehaven F-H P&D car park

car park Hensigham Main Street Whitehaven F-H Free car park

car park North Shore Whitehaven F-H P&D car park

car park Schoolhouse Lane Whitehaven F-H P&D car park

car park Senhouse Street Whitehaven F-H P&D car park

car park The Copeland Centre Whitehaven F-H Staff car park

Contaminated landTownhead Tip Egremont F-H Former Townhead Tip site
Community CentreLand at Bigrigg village hall Bigrigg F-H (L-O) leased to Trustees of Bigrigg Village 

Community CentreGreenbank CC Whitehaven F-H leased to the Trustees of Greenbank 

Community CentreHillcrest CC Whitehaven F-H leased to the Trustees of Hillcrest CC

Community CentreMireshouse CC Whitehaven F-H (L-O)

Leased to the Trustees of Mirehouse 

AFC

Community CentreRichmond Pensioners Hut Whitehaven F-H leased to the Trustees of Overend CC

Crematorium Distington Hall Distington F-H

Depot former Distington Victorian Walled Garden Distington F-H

Depot Unit 1 King Street Millom F-H

Depot Moresby Depot Moresby F-H

Depot Castle Park Whitehaven F-H

Depot The Lodge, Low Road Cemetery Whitehaven F-H

Leisure Bowls Centre Cleator Moor F-H (L-O) leased to GLL

Leisure Recreation Centre Millom F-H (L-O) Leased to the Trustees of Millom Rec

Leisure Copeland Pool Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to GLL

leisure Sports Centre Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to GLL

Museum Beacon Museum Whitehaven F-H

Museum Beacon Portal Whitehaven F-H

Offices Phoenix Court, Cragg Road Cleator Moor F-H

Offices Phoenix House, Jacktreets Road Cleator Moor F-H

P
age 91



Offices Millom Council Offices Millom L-H leased from CCC

Offices The Copeland Centre Whitehaven L-H Leased from Equitix

Offices The Market Hall Whitehaven F-H

public conveniencesMain Street, Gosforth Gosforth F-H (L-O) Leased to Gosforth Parish Council

public conveniencesSeascale Foreshore Seascale F-H (L-O) Leased to Seascale Parish Council

public conveniencesSilecroft Foreshore silecroft F-H (L-O) Leased to LDNP

public conveniencesSt Bees beach St Bees F-H (L-O) Leased to St Bees Parish Council

recylcing area Frizington Frizington L-H

recylcing area Seascale Foreshore Seascale F-H

Store Haig Enterprise Park Whitehaven L-H leased from Investment Company

Infrastructure Highway Dawson Street Cleator Moor F-H unadopted estate road

Bus shelters Various Various

Cliff Protection Lonsdale Houses Whitehaven F-H

Cliff Protection North Shore Whitehaven F-H

Cliff Protection South Shore Whitehaven F-H

Surplus building Lowes Court Gallery Egremont F-H (L-O)

leased to the Trustees of Lowes Court 

Gallery Association

car park Main Street, Haverigg Haveigg

Garage plot site Mill Street Frizington F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Rottington Road Millom F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site High Road, Kells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Mid Street, Kells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site North Row, Kells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Overend Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Rutland Avenue Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Solway Road, Kells - and land adj Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site South Row, Kells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site Thicket Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site West Row, Kells Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

Garage plot site White Park Whitehaven F-H (L-O) various tenants

grazing plot Plot 19 Bransty Whitehaven F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

grazing plot Plot 20 High Road Whitehaven F-H (L-O) let on 11m licence

land Adj Paddock House Arlecdon F-H

P
age 92



land gardens rear Kiln Brow Cleator F-H (L-O) various tenants

land Aldby Street (TA) Cleator Moor F-H (L-O) leased to TA

land Dawson Street (various small parcels) Cleator Moor F-H

land Heather Bank Cleator Moor F-H

land Henry Street Cleator Moor F-H

land Thompson Close cleator Moor F-H

land Hinnings Road former play area Distington F-H

land Brisco Mount Egremont F-H (L-O) Leased for gardens

land Former Beck Green Depot Egremont F-H

land Greendykes (former grazing plot 32) Egremont F-H sold subject to contract

land The Elms (adj 21) Egremont f-H sold subject to contract

land Coronation Drive Frizington F-H

Land Fronting Main Street Frizington F-H

land Griffin Close Frizington F-H

land next to Glendarvel Frizington F-H

land Newtown Frizington F-H

land St Pauls Avenue Frizington F-H

land Former Haverigg Community Centre Haverigg F-H

land Adj Methodist Church Lowca F-H sold subject to contract

land Fronting Linwood Lowca F-H

land Rear Solway Road Lowca F-H (L-O) various access agreements

land Westcroft Terrace former garage plot Lowca F-H

land Robinson Row Millom F-H

land St Georges Road (inc teen space) Millom F-H

land Rear Dalzel Street Moor Row F-H

land Various plots at Walkmill Close Moresby F-H

land Bransty (adj Steelstock) Whitehaven F-H

land Coach Road small plots Whitehaven F-H

land garden land adj 25 Thwaiteville Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Mrs Proud

land garden land adj 26 Thwaiteville Whitehaven F-H (L-O) Leased to Mrs Cloudsdale

land Hillcrest avenue (adj 18) Whitehaven F-H

land Meadow road adj industrial units Whitehaven F-H

land Near Bethel House Whitehaven F-H

P
age 93



land North Shore Whitehaven F-H (L-O) leased to Cumbria Steelstock

land Plot 4 Colliers Way, Kells Whitehaven F-H sold subject to contract

land site of former Woodhouse community Centre Whitehaven F-H

land Williamsons Lane Whitehaven

land various plots at Kells Whitehaven F-H sold subject to contract

sub station sites various Various F-H leased to ENW

P
age 94



Executive 160919

CHRISTMAS PARKING 

LEAD MEMBER: Cllr Steve Morgan
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director
REPORT AUTHOR: Janice Carrol, Community Services Manager

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
The Council provides chargeable off-street parking in Whitehaven, Egremont and St 
Bees, this report could lead to free parking being provided on a limited basis for all 
users. 

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of Council,etc.)
The Executive is asked to consider whether they wish to waive charges for car parking 
in support of the local economy in the lead up to Christmas 2019.

RECOMMENDATIONS: That Executive consider whether they support free parking for 
Christmas 2019 and if so to agree to delegate the arrangements to the Mayor in 
consultation with the S151 officer. 

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council operates 10 chargeable car parks in Whitehaven, Egremont and St 
Bees generating a total income of around £450k per annum. Income comes from 
pay and display parking, long term permits and from penalty charge notices. 
Parking charges normally apply from 8am till 8pm daily including weekends. 

1.2 The Council has traditionally offered a limited amount of free parking in support 
of local businesses in the lead up to the festive period. In 2018 free parking was 
offered in Whitehaven and Egremont for the towns respective Christmas light 
switch-on events, and for all Copeland car parks from 22 December 2018 to 1 
January 2019. 

 
2. DISCUSSION

2.1 Given the impact on income, the Executive is asked to consider whether they 
wish to provide free parking for the coming festive period. Data for December 
2018 (1- 21st) shows that car parking income generated approximately £1500 per 
day.   

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 Should the Executive agree to provide support in principle it is proposed that the 
details of the arrangement is delegated to the Mayor in liaison with the s151 so 
that the financial implications of the offer are fully understood.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.2 The Legal and Monitoring Officer’s comments are: There are no legal 
implications arising from this report

5.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The report includes the estimated 
financial implications; a loss of £1,500 income per day on average.

6. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 

6.1 Free parking in any form will lead to a reduction in car parking income. 

7.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE  MANAGED?

7.1 The Community Services manager will provide data for the Mayor and S151 
officer to ensure the final decision is informed by evidence. 

7.2 The Community Services team will manage the implementation of any agreed 
practical arrangements and work with the Communications team to promote the 
offer.

8.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

8.1 Depending on the decision taken, increased use of the Council’s car parks in 
December and an increase in town centre footfall. 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Press release from 2018

List of Background Documents: None

Page 96



PRESS RELEASE
Free festive parking in Copeland

10 December 2018

For Immediate Release

COPELAND Council is offering free parking this festive period.

All 10 of the car parks that the council runs will be free to use from Saturday, 
December 22 to Tuesday, January 1 (inclusive).

Included in the offer is School House Lane, Senhouse Street, Whitehaven Sports 
Centre, Copeland Centre, The Ginns, The Beacon Museum and North Shore (all 
Whitehaven), Chapel Street and Beck Green (Egremont) and St Bees Foreshore. 

Mike Starkie, Mayor of Copeland, said: "We're pleased to once again be supporting 
our town centres by offering free car parking this Christmas and New Year period.

"We're encouraging all our residents to support their towns by shopping locally, 
dining out or going for a drink, while the Christmas break is the perfect opportunity 
for stroll around Whitehaven harbour or along St Bees beach. 

"It's also free to park at The Beacon Museum where there is a range of family 
activities running, in addition to the stunning Wildlife Photographer of the Year 
exhibition. Copeland residents qualify for free entry to the museum under the 
Copeland Pass scheme, so there really is no better time to visit."

Residents are asked to note that there are a number of marked permit-only bays 
within these car parks that are not available for public use. Additionally, only the car 
parks listed above are subject to this offer; there are other car parks that are 
privately-owned and may be subject to payment. 
END

Notes for editors

For media enquiries, please contact Andrew Clarke on 01946 598353, Chrissie Cremins on 
01946 598390 or Leila Cox on 01946 598315

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 19 August 2019
	6 Forward Plan
	7 Brexit Preparation
	8 2019-2024 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Final v 1 homeless strategy

	9 2019/20 Council Performance Plan - Quarter 1
	Appendix A - Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan update  Q1of 2019-20 (Exec)
	Appendix B - Key Performance Indicators  update Q1 of 19-20 (Exec)

	10 Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2023
	STRATEGIC ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2019-2024 V1.1
	AMP ASSETS 2019-24

	11 Christmas Parking Arrangements
	Appendix PRESS RELEASE


